CHEMICAL REVIEWS

Review

Subscriber access provided by V. Vernadsky | National Library of Ukraine

Coinage Metal-Assisted Synthesis of Heterocycles

Nitin T. Patil, and Yoshinori Yamamoto

Chem. Rev., 2008, 108 (8), 3395-3442 • DOI: 10.1021/cr050041j • Publication Date (Web): 09 July 2008

Downloaded from http://pubs.acs.org on December 24, 2008

More About This Article

Additional resources and features associated with this article are available within the HTML version:

- Supporting Information
- Links to the 4 articles that cite this article, as of the time of this article download
- Access to high resolution figures
- Links to articles and content related to this article
- Copyright permission to reproduce figures and/or text from this article

View the Full Text HTML



Coinage Metal-Assisted Synthesis of Heterocycles

Nitin T. Patil and Yoshinori Yamamoto*

Department of Chemistry, Graduate School of Science, Tohoku University, Aramaki, Aoba-ku, Sendai 980-8578, Japan

Received December 7, 2007

Contents

1. Introduction	3395
 Cyclization of Unsaturated C-C Bonds with Tethered Nucleophiles 	3395
2.1. Cyclization of Allenyl/Alkynyl/Cyclopropenyl Carbonyls, Imines, Epoxides, Sulfoxides, Dithioacetals, and Azides	3395
2.2. Cyclization of Alkenes, Allenes, Dienes, and Alkynes with Nucleophiles (H-Nu)	3404
2.2.1. Cyclization of Alkenes	3404
2.2.2. Cyclization of Allenes	3406
2.2.3. Cyclization of Dienes	3408
2.2.4. Cyclization of Alkynes	3409
2.3. Cyclization of <i>Ortho</i> -Substituted Ethynylbenzene Derivatives	3412
2.4. Tandem sp-sp ² Coupling/Cyclization	3418
3. Cycloaddition Reactions	3418
3.1. [3+2] Cycloaddition	3418
3.1.1. Triazole/Isoxazole-Forming Reactions	3418
3.1.2. Reactions of Azomethine Ylides	3419
3.1.3. Cycloaddition of Nitrones	3422
3.1.4. Other [3+2] Reaction	3422
3.2. [4+2] Heterocycloaddition	3422
3.3. [2+2] Cycloaddition	3424
Cycloisomerization of Enynes/Diynes	3425
5. Intramolecular Friedel-Crafts-Type Reactions	3428
Reactions of α-Diazocarbonyl Compounds	3429
7. Aziridination of Olefins	3431
8. N/O-Vinylation/Arylation	3431
 Radical Cyclization of Haloalkenes and Haloalkynes 	3433
10. Miscellaneous Reactions	3434
11. Conclusion	3437
12. Abbreviations	3438
13. References	3438

1. Introduction

Substituted heterocycles are a structural component of a vast number of biologically active natural and non-natural compounds. Synthesis of various heterocycles has been a research objective for over a century, and a variety of well-established methods are available in the literature. Development of new approaches for their syntheses, employing efficient and atomeconomical routes, is currently a popular research area. Among the many new synthetic transformations, transition metalcatalyzed reactions are the most attractive methodologies, since

* To whom correspondence should be addressed. E-mail: yoshi@ mail.tains.tohoku.ac.jp.

those reactions can directly construct complicated molecules from readily accessible starting materials under mild conditions. The formation of heterocycles by using various transition metals such as Pd, Ni, Ru, and Rh has been extensively investigated and documented in the literature.

Recently, we published a paper in *Chemical Reviews* about transition metal-catalyzed heterocycle synthesis.¹ Several other researchers have reviewed this subject as well;² however, all those reviews are very general. Since this thematic issue of *Chemical Reviews* is focused on coinage metals (Cu, Ag, Au), we would like to review their uses in the synthesis of heterocycles.³ Recently, catalysis by coinage metals has emerged as a powerful tool for various C–C and C–X bond formation reactions, often with interesting mechanistic pathways. We tried to include a discussion of the mechanism of the reactions, whenever possible, to give an idea about the activation of substrates and possible reaction pathways.

Coinage metal catalysts are used not only as sole catalysts but also as cocatalysts. We formerly referred to such a catalyst as a bimetallic catalyst because it consists of a combination of two metals.⁴ Examples of bimetallic systems include Pd-Cu, Pd-Ag, Rh-Ag, Pt-Ag, Au-Ag, and Mn-Cu. Since the subject of multimetallic catalysis was thoroughly reviewed previously,⁴ in this review we will discuss the use of coinage metals as a sole catalyst for the synthesis of heterocycles. There are a large number of reports on the use of Cu, Ag, and Au catalysts to generate heterocycles. We have tried to include many recent examples in this review. Although a discussion of all reports is desirable, it is not possible to explain all papers in the text. Therefore, we discuss only the most essential reactions here; however, we cite additional relevant reviews and reports in the References section. This review covers studies up to November 2007, and any omissions on this wide topic are unintentional. It should be noted that only reactions in which a heterocyclic ring is essentially generated are described. Other reactions, in which a heterocyclic ring already exists in the molecule and a coinage metal catalyzes the further structural manipulations, are not described here. For example, as shown in Scheme 1, a heterocyclic ring is generated by the catalysis of coinage metals; on the other hand, in Scheme 2, coinage metals catalyze the side ring closure of heterocycles.

2. Cyclization of Unsaturated C–C Bonds with Tethered Nucleophiles

2.1. Cyclization of Allenyl/Alkynyl/Cyclopropenyl Carbonyls, Imines, Epoxides, Sulfoxides, Dithioacetals, and Azides

Cyclization of allenyl/alkynyl carbonyls, imines, and epoxides represents a very convenient method for the



Nitin Patil was born in Jalgaon (Maharashtra), India, in 1975. After completing his master studies in 1997 at North Maharashtra University he joined Dr. Dilip Dhavale's research group at University of Pune for Ph.D. work. He completed his doctoral study in 2002 on the synthesis of polyhydroxylated piperidine and indolizidine alkaloids. After working for about a year as a postdoctoral fellow at University of Goettingen with Prof. Christoph Schneider on enantioselective opening of epoxides, he moved to Tohoku University, Japan, as a JSPS fellow to work with Prof. Yoshinori Yamamoto. Later, in April 2005, he was appointed as Assistant Professor of Organic Chemistry in the same laboratory. In June 2006, he joined Prof. K. C. Nicolaou's laboratory at Singapore, and in January 2008, he moved to Nicolaou's other laboratory at Scripps Research Institute. His research interests include transition metal- and Lewis acid-mediated development of new synthetic methods, asymmetric catalysis, and synthesis of biologically important natural and unnatural compounds. He has authored 30 research publications in international peer-reviewed journals as well as book chapters and reviews.



Yoshinori Yamamoto was born in Kobe, Japan, and received his M.S. and Ph.D. degrees from Osaka University. In 1970, he was appointed as an Instructor at Osaka University, after which he went to Prof. H. C. Brown's research group at Purdue University as a Postdoctoral Associate (1970-1972). In 1977, he was appointed as an Associate Professor at Kyoto University. In 1986, he moved to Tohoku University to take up his present position, Professor of Chemistry. He was awarded the Chemical Society of Japan Award for Young Chemists (1976), the Chemical Society of Japan Award (1996), the Humboldt Research Award (2002), Purple Ribbon Medal from The Cabinet (2006), and A. C. Cope Scholar Award from ACS (2007). He is the Regional Editor of Tetrahedron Letters and Volume Editor of Science of Synthesis, and he was the President of the International Society of Heterocyclic Chemistry (2000-2001). He was the project leader of the 21st Century COE Program of MEXT "Giant Molecules and Complex Systems, Chemistry Group of Tohoku University" (2002-2006). Further, he was a vice-president of Tohoku University (2006-2007) and a vice-president of the Chemical Society of Japan (2006-2007). Since 2006, he is the director of WPI-Advanced Institute for Materials Research in Tohoku University. He has a wide range of research interests in synthetic organic and organometallic chemistry. His recent work focused on the use of transition metal complexes and Lewis acids as catalytic reagents in organic synthesis and synthesis of complex natural products.



Scheme 3



 R^1 = H, CH₃, CH₂OBn, (CH₃)₂CHCH₂, (CH₃)₃C; R₂ = CH₃, C₇H₁₅; R³ = H, COOCH₃, CH₂OAc, CH₂OTBS, CH₂OMOM

Scheme 4



preparation of multiply substituted furans and pyrroles. Marshall et al. reported a route for the syntheses of furans 2 involving Ag(I)-catalyzed cyclization of allenyl ketones/ aldehydes 1 (Scheme 3).⁵ This group was the first to show that this type of cyclization is very useful for the synthesis of multiply substituted furans.

It is reported that cyclization of allenyl ketone **3** provided furan **4** in the presence of catalytic amounts of AuCl₃. The reaction was extended to one-pot cyclization/dimerization of **5** with α , β -unsaturated ketones **6** to give C-2-substituted furans **7** (Scheme 4).⁶ The mechanism of the reaction is shown in Scheme 5. The authors believed the intermediacy of **9** and proposed two possibilities for its formation: Either the AuCl₃ activates the enones **6** to form **10**, which then create the new C–C bonds by an electrophilic aromatic substitution at the 5-position of the furan to provide **9** (path

Scheme 6







R = H, $R^1 = OMe$, $R^2 = alkyl: only 16a$ R = Me, $R^1 = H$, $R^2 = alkyl: 16a + 16b$ mixture



A), or a cyclization of **5** under gold catalysis forms a furylgold species **8**, which subsequently undergoes a 1,4-addition to the Michael acceptor (path B). The intermediate **9** then undergoes proto-demetalation to form **7** along with regeneration of the gold catalyst. Recently, gold(III)-porphyrin complexes have been utilized for the cyclization of allenones.⁷

Gevorgyan et al. have shown that 1,2-iodine, -bromine, and -chlorine migration in haloallenyl ketones **11** takes place in the presence of AuCl₃.⁸ For this reaction, iodo and bromo allenyl ketones gave better results, compared to their chloro analogues. This chemistry is interesting not only as a novel cascade transformation but also as a mild, selective, and efficient approach to different types of 3-halofurans **12**. It was reported that the reaction proceeded through halirenium intermediate **14**, formed by intramolecular Michael addition of X to the enone moiety as shown in **13**, which via subsequent addition—elimination furnishes 3-halofurans **12** (Scheme 6). It is interesting to note that simply switching the solvent from toluene to THF caused a dramatic change in selectivity, affording 2-halofurans as the major product.

Cyclization of *N*-monosubstituted allenic carboxamides **15** in the presence of AgOAc or AgNO₃ was reported by Brandsma and co-workers (Scheme 7).⁹ The product **16a** or a mixture of **16a** and **16b** was obtained, depending on the substitution pattern. Other reagents, such as KO'Bu in DMSO, copper(II) bromide, and palladium catalysts, did not work for the reaction.

Gevorgyan and co-workers have shown that alkynes can also be used instead of allenes for furan synthesis. They developed a method for the synthesis of 2-monosubstituted and 2,5-disubstituted furans **18** via the CuI-catalyzed cyclization of alkynyl ketones **17** (Scheme 8).¹⁰ It was demonstrated that furans containing both acid and base labile Scheme 9



Scheme 10



 $R^1 = {}^nBu$, $CH_3(CH_2)_3CH=CH_2$, $CN(CH_2)_2CH_2$, $OTBSCH_2CH_3$, OTBS, H, nPr ; $R^2 = H$, nPr , Ph, Me; $R^3 = {}^nBu$, tBu , Tr, 3-(ethylbutyryl), Ph



Scheme 11



groups could be easily synthesized using this methodology. Pioneering work from the same group revealed that 3-thiosubstituted furans **20a** and pyrroles **20b** could be obtained from propargyl ketones **19a** and propargyl imines **19b**, respectively, by heating in *N*,*N*-dimethylacetamide in the presence of CuI (Scheme 9).¹¹ The key in the mechanism was the 1,2-migration of the Y group from the sp² carbon atom in the allenyl species, as shown in intermediates **21** and **22**.

The same researchers also reported a new route for the synthesis of pyrroles 24 via copper(I)-catalyzed cyclization of alkynyl imines 23 (Scheme 10).¹² Mechanistic studies revealed that this reaction proceeded via the propargyl-allenyl isomerization of 23 to the allenyl imines 25 and through the nucleophilic attack of the nitrogen atom of imine on the electron-deficient carbon, as shown in intermediate 26, which forms the copper-containing pyrrole ring skeleton 27. Isomerization in 27, protonation, and regeneration of the catalyst affords pyrroles 24. This methodology was also applied for the synthesis of indolizidines. The copper-assisted reaction of 2-alkynylpyridines 28 provided the indolizidine derivatives 29 in good yields (Scheme 11).¹³ The copperassisted double-cyclization of bis-alkynylpyrimidine 30 afforded the 5-6-5 tricyclic heteroaromatic skeleton 31 (Scheme 12).¹³ This transformation was used as a key step in the diastereoselective total synthesis of (\pm) -tetraponerine T6. Liu and Yan reported gold-catalyzed multicomponent reactions of aldehydes, amines, and alkynes for the synthesis of aminoindolizines.¹⁴ The same research group later reported







Table 1



entry	\mathbb{R}^1	\mathbb{R}^2	\mathbb{R}^3	yield $(\%)^{a,b}$
1	Me	Ph	Ph	75
2	Me	Ph	p-MeO-C ₆ H ₄	75
3	Me	o-MeO-C ₆ H ₄	Ph	83
4	n-Pent	Me	Ph	68
5	Ph	Ph	Ph	65
6	Ph	3-thienyl	Ph	74
7	Ph	CH ₂₀ -C ₆ H ₁₂	Ph	90
8	Ph	CH ₂₀ -C ₆ H ₁₂	1-naphthyl	79
9	Ph	(CH ₂) ₃ OTEP	Ph	70
10	Ph	Н	Ph	52
11	Ph	TBS	Ph	77

^{*a*} Conditions: (1) 0.2 mmol of **1**, 5 mol % AgSbF₆, 23 °C, CH₂Cl₂ (0.4 M), 30 min; (2) R³-NH₂ (1.5 equiv), 23 °C; (3) 5 mol % (PPh₃)AuCl, 38 °C, 30–240 min. ^{*b*} Yield of pure product after column chromatography.

the synthesis of indolizines and indolizinones from 2-pyridylsubstituted propargylic alcohols.¹⁵

Kirsch et al. reported a one-pot process for the synthesis of pyrroles **33** from easily accessible propargyl vinyl ethers **32** and aromatic amines (Table 1).¹⁶ The cascade reaction proceeds through a silver(I)-catalyzed propargyl Claisen rearrangement (cf. **34**), an amine condensation (cf. **35**), and a gold(I)-catalyzed 5-*exo-dig* heterocyclization.

A new gold-catalyzed cascade cycloisomerization of propargylic derivatives **36** into pyrrole-containing heterocycles **37** has been reported (Table 2).¹⁷ This cascade transformation involves 1,2-migration of silyl, stannyl, and germyl groups and allows an efficient synthesis of various C-2-substituted fused pyrrole-containing heterocycles. Mechanistically, first isomerization of alkyne **36** results in the formation of vinylidene species **38**, followed by nucleophilic attack of the nitrogen lone pair at the vinylidene carbon resulting in formation of zwitterions **39**, which undergo a series of 1,2-hydride shifts to furnish **37**.

Dake and co-workers reported a domino process for the synthesis of pyrroles **41** starting from ketoalkynes **40** and



^{*a*} Isolated yield and reactions performed on 0.5 mmol scale. ^{*b*} Yield over two steps. ^{*c*} Reaction was performed on 5.0 mmol scale in the presence of AuCl catalyst (0.5 mol %). ^{*d*} NMR yield. ^{*e*} AuCl was used as catalyst.

amines. Either silver trifluoromethanesulfonate or a mixture of gold(I) chloride, silver trifluoromethanesulfonate, and triphenylphosphine catalyzed the formation of pyrroles from substituted β -alkynyl ketones and amines (Table 3).¹⁸ The reactions proceeded by using 5 mol % of catalyst, with yields of isolated pyrroles ranging from 13% to 92%.

Table 3



Recently, Gevorgyan et al. reported the syntheses of furans **43** from alkynyl ketones **42** via 1,2-migration of acetate groups (Scheme 13).¹⁹ The reactions were conducted in the presence of 5 mol % AgBF₄ at room temperature. Not only acetate but also $-OP(O)(OEt)_2$ and -OTs groups migrated; however, a somewhat high temperature (60 °C) was needed in order to complete the reaction. The reaction involves the intermediacy of allene **44**. This is the first example of 1,2-migration of acyloxy, phosphatyloxy, and sulfonyloxy groups from sp² carbon.

The reaction of a propargyl ketone such as **45** in the presence of 0.1 mol % AuCl₃ at 20 °C gave the furan **46** in quantitative yield (Scheme 14).⁶ On the other hand, with palladium as catalyst, heating at 100 °C was needed in order for the reaction to proceed. A novel cascade cyclization of the propargyl ketone **47** to form **49** in the presence of AuCl₃ was reported in the same paper. The authors proposed the intermediacy of **48** for that cascade cyclization.

Hashmi et al. described an interesting cascade cyclization of **50**, in which alkynes are tethered with furans, for the synthesis of five- or six-membered heterocycles **51** (Scheme 15).²⁰ This method proved applicable only to terminal alkynes; disubstituted alkynes did not give the desired products under similar conditions. These researchers also extended this approach for the one-pot synthesis of







b X = NTs, R¹=R²= H, 97% c X = NTs, R¹= Me, R²= H, 94% d X = NTs, R¹=H, R²= Me, 93% e X = NNs, R¹=H, R²= Me, 96% f X = C(COOMe)₂, R¹=R²= H, 88% g X = N(Ts)CH₂, R¹=H, R²= H, 81%

Scheme 16





benzofuran **51** from **52**, albeit in low yield (Scheme 16).²¹ Alkynylphenol **53**, obtained as a minor product in 23% yield, could be cyclized to **54** under gold catalysis conditions.

Kirsch and co-workers recently described the synthesis of highly substituted furans **56** from **55** under gold(I) catalysis (Scheme 17).²² The reaction is accomplished at room temperature, using just 2 mol % catalyst loading. A mechanism for the cascade cyclization involves the formation of β -allenic ketone **57**, which then undergoes gold(I)-catalyzed 5-*exo-dig* cyclization, affording furans **56**.

The conversion of alkynyl epoxides **58** into furans **59** in the presence of gold(III) chloride took place at room temperature (Scheme 18).²³ Coordination of the triple bond of **58** to AuCl₃ enhances the electrophilicity of the alkyne (cf. **60**), and subsequent nucleophilic attack on the epoxide oxygen at the distal position of alkyne forms the species **61**, which on isomerization—deprotonation—protodemetalation (cf. **62** and **63**) give furans **59** (Scheme 19).



Scheme 19



Scheme 20



Scheme 21



An efficient method for the synthesis of substituted furanopyrimidines **65** was described by Agrofoglio and coworkers (Scheme 20).²⁴ Upon treatment of amidoalkynes **64** with catalytic amounts of AgNO₃ in acetone at room temperature, the cyclized products **65** were obtained in almost quantitative yields. Activation of alkyne by silver catalyst, as shown in intermediate **66**, was proposed.

Recently, Larock et al. reported an entirely new approach for the cyclization of 2-(1-alkynyl)-2-alken-1-ones 67 with nucleophiles in the presence of catalytic amounts of AuCl₃, which led to the formation of highly substituted furans 68 (Scheme 21).²⁵ Examples of nucleophiles include alcohols, activated methylenes, and electron-rich arenes such as N,Ndimethylaniline and N-methylindole. The mechanism of the reaction is depicted in Scheme 22. Coordination of the triple bond of 67 to AuCl₃ enhances the electrophilicity of the triple bond (cf. 69), and subsequent nucleophilic attack of the carbonyl oxygen on the electron-deficient triple bond generates carbocation 70. Intermolecular nucleophilic attack of nucleophiles on the carbocation gives furyl gold species 71, which after protonation of the carbon-gold bond affords furans 68 and regenerates the catalyst AuCl₃. The authors ruled out the possibility of an alternative mechanism wherein AuCl₃ first acts as a Lewis acid, forming a complex with the carbonyl oxygen and thereby facilitating Michael addi-



tion. We later showed that inexpensive and air -stable Cu(I) catalyst in DMF could also be used for this reaction (Table 4).²⁶

Gold-catalyzed cyclization reactions of 2-oxo-3-butynoic ester **72a** or disubstituted 1,2-dione **72b** with a variety of nucleophiles are reported by Liu and co-workers (Scheme 23).²⁷ The method provided an efficient and general route to multiply substituted 3(2H)-furanones **73a**-i.

Recently, Schmalz and Zhang reported the gold-catalyzed cascade cyclization of substrates of type **74** (Table 5).²⁸ The process provided efficient access to highly substituted furans **75** under mild conditions. A variety of nucleophiles, such as alcohols (including *tert*-butanol), phenols, or acetic acid, can be used for the reaction. Two different intermediates, **76** and **77**, were proposed for this reaction.

Kirsch and co-workers reported the gold-catalyzed synthesis of 3(2H)-furanones **79** from alkynyl carbonyl compound **78** bearing a hydroxy group at the propargylic position (Scheme 24).²⁹ They mentioned that this reaction is catalyzed by either AuCl₃ or PtCl₂, and the yield depends on the type of substrate used. For instance, when R was an aryl group, the reaction worked well with gold catalyst; however, when R was an alkyl group PtCl₂ proved superior. The mechanism typically involves the activation of alkyne by metal catalyst (cf. **80**), which results in the formation of oxonium ion **81**. The intermediate oxonium ion **81** underwent 1,2-shifts analogous to a formal α -ketol rearrangement to afford **79a**–**c**. In the case of silyl-protected alcohols, the iododemetalation of **81** in the presence of external NIS and alcohol as a proton source is possible.³⁰

Zhang reported gold-catalyzed synthesis of highly functionalized 2,3-indoline-fused cyclobutanes **83** from propargylic esters **82** (Scheme 25).³¹ The proposed mechanism for the formation of the cyclobutanes **83** is shown in Scheme 26. Activation of the C–C triple bond in propargylic esters **82** by $[Au(PPh_3)]^+$ promotes a 3,3-rearrangement of the indole-3-acetoxy group, which leads to the formation of allenylic esters **86** via the intermediates **84** and **85**. The allene moiety of **86** is further activated by the cationic Au(I) complex as shown in **87**, resulting in the formation of oxonium ion **88**. The cyclobutanes **83** are produced via C–C

Table 4







bond formation between the oxonium carbon of **88** and the C-3 carbon of the indole ring, followed by intramolecular trapping of the iminium with the alkenylgold(I) (cf. **89**). The



 a Yields given in parentheses refer to reactions performed with AgOTf (5 mol %, 1 h). b Indole (1.5 equiv).

Scheme 24



Scheme 25



gold-catalyzed [3,3] sigmatropic rearrangement was applied for the synthesis of complex α -pyrone by Schreiber and Luo.³²

Recently, Hashmi and co-workers reported gold-catalyzed synthesis of 2,5-disubstituted oxazoles **91** from the corresponding propargylcarboxamides **90** (Scheme 27).³³ The 5-*exo-dig* cyclization of gold-coordinated alkyne, as shown in **92**, forms the vinyl gold species **93**, which gave products **91** on protonation and regeneration of catalyst.

Ma and Zhang developed copper(I)-catalyzed conversion of cyclopropenyl ketones **94** into 2,3,4-trisubstituted furans **95** (Scheme 28).³⁴ Regioselective iodocupration of the C=C bond of **94** produces **96**, which on subsequent β -decarbocupration gives delocalized intermediate **97**. Intramolecular endo-mode insertion of the C=C bond into the oxygen–copper



Scheme 27



Scheme 28



bond of intermediate **97**, and subsequent β -halide elimination of intermediate **98**, affords **95** with the regeneration of CuI. An analogous reaction using iminocyclopropenes as substrate led to the formation *N*-fused pyrroles.³⁵

Gold-catalyzed reaction of propargylic dithioacetals **99** gave indene derivatives **100** through pentannulation of the aromatic rings (Table 6).³⁶ The five-membered dithioacetal ring is expanded to a six-membered ring through the intermediacy of vinylcarbenoids **101**.



Rearrangement of alkynyl sulfoxide **102**, catalyzed by gold(I) complexes, was reported by Toste and co-workers (Table 7).³⁷ Various benzo-fused sulfur-containing hetero-

Table 7



^{*a*} Reaction conditions: 5 mol % IMesAuCl, 5 mol % AgSbF₆, rt. ^{*b*} Reaction conditions: 5 mol % Ph₃PAuCl, 5 mol % AgSbF₆, rt.



Scheme 29



cycles **103** were synthesized in good yields by this method. It is interesting to note that the substrate containing an alkyne substituted with hydrogen and an electron-withdrawing group gave benzothiepinones (entries 1-5), in contrast to the alkyl-substituted alkyne, which afforded benzothiopine (entry 6). Formation of carbenoids **104a** and **104b** was proposed, which undergo intramolecular Friedel–Crafts alkylation to give the products **103f** and **103a–e**, respectively.

Toste and co-workers developed a gold(I)-catalyzed intramolecular acetylenic Schmidt reaction of homopropargyl azides **105** for the synthesis of multiply substituted pyrroles **106** (Scheme 29).³⁸ The reactions were performed under extremely mild conditions, and preparation of the catalyst was very easy. Mechanistically, gold(I) serves both to Scheme 30



Scheme 31



Scheme 32



activate the alkyne to form 107 and also to donate electron density back into an electron-deficient π -system, as shown in 108.

An efficient method for the preparation of β , γ -unsaturated δ -lactones **110** has been reported recently (Scheme 30).³⁹ The starting materials for the synthesis of these compounds are allene-substituted malonates **109**, which undergo gold-catalyzed cyclization by means of nucleophilic attack of the ester moieties on the allenes (cf. **111** and **112**).

AuCl₃ efficiently catalyzes cyclization of *tert*-butyl allenoates **113** into γ -butenolides **114** (Scheme 31).⁴⁰ The authors of that work believed that, mechanistically, formation of allenic acid took place first, and subsequent cyclization then afforded furan **114**.

Gold-catalyzed rearrangement of propargylic *tert*-butyl carbonates **115** and **117** into 4-alkylidene-1,3-dioxolan-2-ones **116** and **118** was described by Gagosz and Buzas (Scheme 32).⁴¹ A variety of cyclic carbonates were synthesized under these milder conditions.

A new method for the synthesis of 2-oxazolidinones **120a** and 2-oxazinones **120b** from the corresponding *N*-Bocprotected alkynylamines **199a** and **199b** was reported recently (Scheme 33).⁴² The reaction is very general in its scope and can be carried out at extremely neutral conditions in a short time. Since the *N*-methyl carbamate of propargyl amine failed to react under standard conditions, fragmentation of the ^{*t*}Bu group (cf. **121**), releasing isobutene, was proposed as the key aspect of this process. Li and co-workers have shown that a methyl group (instead of a ^{*t*}Bu group) can also



be used for similar cyclization processes.⁴³ Asao and coworkers have shown that *o*-alkynylbenzoic acid alkyl ester can be used as an alkylating agent for alcohols or arenes.⁴⁴ Hashmi and co-workers reported cyclization of *N*-alkynyl carbamates bearing a Boc group on nitrogen.⁴⁵

Shin and Kang reported gold-catalyzed cyclization of *tert*butyl carbonates **122**, derived from homopropargylic alcohols, which led to formation of cyclic enol carbonates **123** (Scheme 34).⁴⁶ It is reported that internal alkynes were not viable substrates for this cyclization. The same research group reported gold-catalyzed synthesis of 2-oxazolidinones from *N*-Boc-protected alkynylamines under low catalyst loading.⁴⁷ They⁴⁸ and Hashmi et al.⁴⁹ reported gold(I)-catalyzed intramolecular hydroamination of trichloroacetimidates derived from propargyl and homopropargyl alcohols. Shen et al. reported gold(I)-catalyzed cyclizations of silyl ketene amides and carbamates with tethered alkynes.⁵⁰

Gold-catalyzed double-Wacker-type reaction of 1,1-diethynyl acetates **124** for the synthesis of lactones **125b** was reported (Scheme 35).⁵¹ The mechanism of the reaction is interesting (Scheme 36); however, the lactones were obtained in low yields due to the formation of γ -keto esters **125a** as a side product.









Scheme 37



2.2. Cyclization of Alkenes, Allenes, Dienes, and Alkynes with Nucleophiles (H-Nu)

2.2.1. Cyclization of Alkenes

Silver(I) triflate-mediated intramolecular addition of hydroxyl or carboxyl group to inert olefins, to form cyclic ethers **127** and lactones **129**, was described by He and co-workers (Scheme 37).⁵² Good to excellent yields were obtained over a wide range of substrates **126** and **128** under experimentally simple reaction conditions. The role of the silver(I) catalyst is mainly to activate the olefin, which is then attacked by the tethered oxygen nucleophiles.

The gold-catalyzed intramolecular cyclization of alkenol was reported by Yang and He (Scheme 38).⁵³ They observed that the formation of cyclic ethers **131/132** from **130** using 5 mol % Ph₃PAuOTf in toluene at 85 °C took place smoothly. This is the first example of intramolecular hydroalkoxylation of alkenes in the case of gold catalysis.

He and co-workers reported the Au(I)-catalyzed synthesis of dihydrobenzofurans **134** from aryl allyl ethers **133** (Table 8).⁵⁴ They probed the mechanism of the reaction and found that the reaction proceeded by a Claisen rearrangement, followed by an intramolecular addition of the resulting phenol to the allyl group. Ohno and co-workers reported gold-

Table 8







catalyzed intramolecular hydroarylation of allenes for the synthesis of dihydroquinoline and chromene derivatives.⁵⁵

Recently, He and co-workers reported gold(I)-catalyzed intramolecular hydroamination of unactivated olefins which led to a variety of nitrogen heterocycles (Table 9).⁵⁶ They further examined hydroamination of 1,5-dienes **135** with TsNH₂(Scheme 39). First intermolecular hydroamination of a 1,5-diene by TsNH₂, followed by intramolecular hydroamination, produces pyrrolidines **136** in one pot. Just after the publication of the above paper, a similar report on intramolecular hydroamination appeared in the literature.⁵⁷ Che and co-worker reported gold(I)-catalyzed hydroamination of

Scheme 39

	$\sum_{R^2} \frac{5 \text{ mol } \% \text{ Ph}_3 \text{PAuOT}}{\text{toluene, 95 } \% \text{C}}$	$\stackrel{\text{If}}{\rightarrow} R^1 N F_{\text{Ts}}$	ર ²
135a R 135b R 135c R	¹ = H, R ² = H ¹ = H, R ² = Me ¹ = Me, R ² = Me	136a R ¹ = H, R ² = 64% (<i>cis/tra.</i> 136b R ¹ = H, R ² = 136c R ¹ = Me, R ²	= H, <i>ns</i> :37/63) = Me, 90% [:] = Me, 80%
Fable 10			
R ¹	R ² 1 eq. TsNH ₂ 5 mol % Au(PPh ₃)Cl 5% AgOTf toluene, 85 °C	$\begin{bmatrix} R^2 \\ NHTs \end{bmatrix} \rightarrow$	R ¹ R ² N Ts 139
entry	R^1, R^2	time (h)	yield (%)
1	<i>o</i> -C ₆ H ₄ , H	8	68
2	m-Me-C ₆ H ₄ , H	8	76
3	<i>p</i> -Me-C ₆ H ₄ , H	8	70
4	o-OMe-C ₅ H ₄ , H	4	34
5	1-naphthyl, H	12	54
6	C ₆ H ₅ , Me	12	68
7	p-Me-C ₆ H ₄ , Me	8	72
8	o-OEt-C ₆ H ₄ , Me	8	71
9	p-Cl-C ₆ H ₄ , Me	24	43
10	p-Br-C ₆ H ₄ , Me	24	47
11	"Bu, "Bu	8	70
12	$n-C_{17}H_{15}$, Me	8	64
13	cyclohexylene	8	63
14	4-phenylcyclohexylene	8	75

alkenes under thermal and microwave-assisted conditions.⁵⁸ Widenhoefer and Bender reported intramolecular hydroamination of aminoalkynes catalyzed by a gold(I)/*N*-heterocyclic carbene complex at relatively low temperature.⁵⁹

Shi et al. reported gold-catalyzed domino ring-opening/ ring-closing hydroamination of methylenecyclopropanes 137 with sulfonamides for the synthesis of pyrrolidines 139 (Table 10).⁶⁰ Opening of 137 by TsNH₂ took place to form aminoalkenes 138, which on intramolecular hydroamination gave pyrrolidines 139.

Che and Zhou reported highly efficient Au(I)-catalyzed intramolecular addition of β -ketoamide to unactivated alkenes (Table 11).⁶¹ The substrates **140** underwent cyclization in the presence of Au[P(*t*-Bu)₂(*o*-biphenyl)]Cl (**142**, 5 mol %) and AgOTf (5 mol %) under mild conditions with excellent regioselectivities and yields. The process provided an efficient method to prepare highly substituted lactams **141**.

Oxidative cyclization of tosyl-*o*-allylaniline **143** to produce tetracycle **144** was reported by Chemler and co-workers (Scheme 40).⁶² The oxidative cyclization of **143** occurred upon treatment with 3 equiv of Cu(OAc)₂ and 1 equiv of Cs₂CO₃ in CH₃CN or DMF at 120 °C. The mechanism of this reaction is different and involves the activation of nucleophiles. One plausible mechanism is depicted in Scheme 41. Presumably, formation of a nitrogen–copper(II) bond takes place (cf. **145**) at the beginning of the reaction, followed by intramolecular migratory insertion to form indole nucleus **146**. Intramolecular cyclization in **146** via a radical pathway affords **147**, which on loss of a hydrogen radical gives **144**.

Chemler and co-workers also reported the intramolecular 1,2-diamination of unactivated olefin 148 in the presence of Cu(OAc)₂, which gave nitrogen-containing heterocycle 149

Table 11





(Scheme 42).⁶³ The in situ-generated **150**, on migratory insertion, gives organocopper species **151**, which on ligand exchange with a nitrogen followed by reductive elimination affords product **149**.



Shi et al. reported copper-catalyzed intermolecular diamination process for the synthesis of *N*-heterocycles **154** from diene **152** and di-*tert*-butyldiaziridinone **153** (Scheme 43).⁶⁴ It is interesting to note that only the terminal double bond is diaminated in this process. The CuCl first reductively cleaves the N–N bond of diaziridinone **153** to form radical species **155**. Addition of **155** to diene **152** forms radical intermediate **156**, which on homolytic cleavage of the Cu–N bond and formation of the C–N bond gave **154** with regeneration of catalyst.

2.2.2. Cyclization of Allenes

The activation of allenes can be achieved by using transition metal catalysts⁶⁵ enabling the synthesis of heterocycles. Like those transition metals, coinage metals coordinate to allenes, allowing the attack of tethered nucleophiles, leading to the formation of various heterocycles. Marshall and co-workers reported the activation of allenes by silver catalysts. As shown in Scheme 44, the use of optically pure allenylcarbinol 157 gave cis-2,5-dihydrofuran 158 in high yield.⁶⁶ Furstner et al. also reported that allenyl alcohol **159** cyclized in the presence of AgNO₃ to afford dihydrofuran 160 with complete chirality transfer; however, a stoichiometric amount of the silver salt was needed in this case (Scheme 45).⁶⁷ Marshall et al. later reported the cyclization of allenic acids 161 in the presence of catalytic amounts of AgNO₃ to give butenolides 162 (Scheme 46).⁶⁸ High yields were generally obtained in all cases.

Ma et al. reported an efficient method for the synthesis of β -chlorobutenolides **164** from allenic acids **163** in the presence of excess amounts of CuCl₂ (Scheme 47).⁶⁹ β -Bromobutenolides could also be obtained by replacing CuCl₂ for CuBr₂. The reaction proceeds through the stereo-selective halocupration of **163** to form the Cu-containing intermediate (*E*)-**165**. Intramolecular attack of the carboxylic



Scheme 47





 $\label{eq:result} \begin{array}{l} \mathsf{R}^1 = t\text{-}\mathsf{Bu}, \ \mathsf{H}, \ \mathsf{H}_2\mathsf{C}{=}\mathsf{CH}(\mathsf{CH}_2)_2; \ \mathsf{R}_2 = \mathsf{Me}, \ \mathit{n}{-}\mathsf{Bu}, \ \mathit{n}{-}\mathsf{Hex}, \ \mathsf{H}; \\ \mathsf{R}^3 = \mathsf{H}, \ \mathsf{Me}; \ \mathsf{R}^4 = \mathsf{COOEt}, \ \mathsf{COOMe}, \ \mathsf{CH}_2\mathsf{OH}, \ \mathsf{CH}_2\mathsf{OTBS}, \ \mathsf{CH}_2\mathsf{OMe} \end{array}$

group on copper forms the six-membered intermediate 166, which provides the products 164 after reductive elimination.

Functionalized α -hydroxyallenes 167 were smoothly converted into the corresponding 2,5-dihydrofurans 168 by using $5-10 \mod \%$ of gold(III) chloride as catalyst. This cyclization method was applied to alkyl- and alkenyl-substituted allenes, which furnished tri- and tetrasubstituted dihydrofurans in good to excellent chemical yields and with complete axisto-center chirality transfer (Scheme 48).⁷⁰ Evidence for the in situ reduction of gold(III) during the cyclization of allenyl carbinols was reported recently.⁷¹ The methodology also proved applicable for the cyclization of β -hydroxyallenes into dihydropyrans.⁷² An application of this strategy for the synthesis of β -carboline alkaloids (-)-isochrysotricine and (-)-isocyclocapitelline was reported.⁷³ A similar reaction was reported in the synthesis of (\pm) -annularin H by Brasholz and Reissig.⁷⁴ Chiral allenamides bearing an alcohol functional group are also known to undergo cyclization to form highly substituted dihydrofurans.⁷⁵

Gagosz et al. reported the gold(I)-catalyzed rearrangement of butynediol monobenzoates **169** into functionalized 2,5dihydrofurans **170**. The reaction proved quite general, and various substituted butynediol monobenzoates reacted using 2 mol % (Ph₃P)AuNTf₂ as the catalyst.⁷⁶ As can be judged from Table 12, in most cases excellent chirality transfer occurred from substrates to products. Activation of alkyne by gold catalyst promotes the nucleophilic attack of the benzoate moiety, to form the stabilized cationic species **171**. Fragmentation of the C–O bond in **171** led to the 1,3-shift of the benzoate group to form allene **172** stereoselectively. The intramolecular hydroalkoxylation of allene in the presence of gold catalyst afforded products **170**. Shin and coworkers reported a similar cyclization process for the synthesis of spirocyclic furans (Scheme 49).⁷⁷







Scheme 49



Silver salts effectively catalyze the cyclization of O-(2,3-butadienyl)-N-tosyl-carbamates **173** to provide the *trans*-oxazolidinones **174** predominantly or exclusively (Scheme 50).⁷⁸ It was observed that the ease of cyclization depends on the kind of substituents on the nitrogen atom. Generally, electron-withdrawing groups facilitate the reaction.

Cha and co-workers reported the stereocontrolled synthesis of (–)-clavepictine A and (–)-clavepictine B using silver(I)mediated cyclization of δ -aminoallene as a key step (Scheme 51).⁷⁹ Silver(I) nitrate-catalyzed annulation of diastereomerically pure aminoallene **175** produced a 7:1 mixture of the

Scheme 50





Scheme 52

Scheme 53





180a $R^1 = {}^{i}Pr$, $R^2 = Me$, $R^3 = p - CF_3 - C_6H_4OCH_2$, 67% **180b** $R^1 = {}^{n}Hex$, $R^2 = Me$, $R^3 = CH_2OBn$, 82% **180c** $R^1 = H_2C=CH(CH_2)_7$, $R^2 = R^3 = H$, 43%

desired *cis*-quinolizidines **176a** and **176b** in 54% yield. Further structural manipulation from **176a** gave (–)-clavepictine A and (–)-clavepictine B.

Gold(III) chloride-catalyzed cyclization of various α -aminoallenes **177** gave the corresponding 3-pyrrolines **178** in good yields (Scheme 52).⁸⁰ It was reported that the reactivity depends on the nature of protecting groups. For example, when X = H, 5 days (room temperature) was needed to get a 74% yield of the product. On the other hand, when X = Ts, the reaction afforded the corresponding product in 95% yield within 1 h at 0 °C. The same research group reported the cyclization of α -thioallenes **179** into 2,5-dihydrothiophenes **180** (Scheme 53).⁸¹ This was the first example of C–S bond formation in the case of gold catalysis. Dieter et al. has shown that silver salts can also be used as a catalyst for the synthesis of 3-pyrrolines from α -aminoallenes.⁸²

We have reported gold-catalyzed intramolecular hydroamination of allenes **181** which gave access to five- and six-membered ring heterocycles **182** (Table 13).⁸³ It was found that the chirality is transferred from the starting aminoallenes into the products under this reaction conditions. A few months later, Widenhoefer et al. also reported the synthesis of heterocycles via gold-catalyzed activation of allenes with much broader scope.⁸⁴

Widenhoefer and Zhang reported gold(I)-catalyzed intramolecular enantioselective hydroalkoxylation of allenes

Table	13
-------	----

entry	aminoallene	(181)	product (182)	time (h)	yield(%) ^ε
		11	NR R	C ₅ H ₁₁	
1	R = Ts	AuBr ₃	R = Ts	3	99
2	R = Ts	AuCl ₃	R = Ts	3	98
3	R = Ts	AuCl	R = Ts	3	99
4	R = COOEt	AuCI	R = COOEt	3	97
5	R = Cbz	AuCI	R = Cbz	3	99
6	R = Bn	AuCI	R = Bn	24	76
		₅ H ₁₁		`C₅H ₁₁	
7	R = Ts	AuCI	R = Ts	24	53 ^b
8	R = Cbz	AuCl	R = Cbz	24	80 ^b

 a The reactions of **181** in the presence of 1 mol % gold salts were carried out at rt in THF unless otherwise noted. b 5 mol % of catalyst was used.

183 for the synthesis of optically active five- and sixmembered cyclic ethers **184** (Table 14).⁸⁵ This is the first example of catalytic enantioselective hydroalkoxylation of allenes catalyzed by transition metals.

Gold-catalyzed enantioselective intramolecular hydroamination of allenes 186 and 188, for the synthesis of pyrrolidines 187 and piperidines 189, respectively, was reported by Toste and co-workers (Scheme 54).⁸⁶ This is the first example of catalytic enantioselective hydroamination of allenes catalyzed by transition metals. This process was restricted to N-allenyl sulfonamides that possessed a terminally disubstituted allenyl moiety. The authors also noted that N-allenyl carbamates failed to undergo hydroamination under these conditions. Later, Widenhoefer et al. reported gold(I)-catalyzed enantioselective hydroamination of Nallenyl carbamates with a wide range of allenes.⁸⁷ More recently, the research group of Toste reported a chiral counterion strategy for asymmetric transition metal catalysis, and they performed asymmetric hydroalkoxylation, hydroamination, and hydrocarboxylation reactions.⁸⁸

2.2.3. Cyclization of Dienes

Li and co-workers reported efficient annulation of phenols and naphthols with cyclohexadiene to form the benzofurans **190** by using a combination AuCl₃/AgOTf catalyst (Scheme 55).⁸⁹ It was reported that the use of gold(I) (5 mol % AuCl/ 5% mol AgOTf) as a catalyst led to very low conversions of the starting materials, whereas a cationic gold(I) triphenylphosphine complex [5 mol % AuCl(PPh₃)/15 mol % AgOTf] did not lead to any desired product at all. The presence of electron-donating groups on the aromatic ring seems to promote the reaction. A Friedel–Crafts-type reaction (cf. **191**) and intramolecular hydroalkoxylation (cf. **192**) are the key features of the mechanism. Quite recently, Youn and Eom reported the silver-catalyzed annulation of

Table 14

entry	substrate 183	product 184 ^a	ratio ^b	yield	ee(%)
1 Ph [.] P	OH h	Ph	-	67	93
Ph— Ph	OH R	Ph Ph			
2 F	R = n-pentyl		1:1	94	95/95
3	R = Me		1:1	96	97/99
⁴ Me Me	OH • Str Me	Me Me	1:1	95	93/95
⁵ Ph	OH ✓ ● ● ● ● ● ● ● ● ● ● ● ● ● ● ● ● ● ● ●	Ph Ph n-pent	20:1	88	95
6	DH ∕∕∼• _{∕∕} ∽ ⁿ Pr	0 nPr	1.5:1	94	28/39
7 Ph- P	OH h	Ph Ph	-	96	88
⁸ Ph Ph	OH n-pent	Ph	1.5:1	92	67/93
9 Ph- P	H Me	Ph Me	1.3:1	99	81/82
Ph	OH•==	Ph~O~~		05	00/15

^{*a*} Reaction conditions: cat. $[Au_2\{(S)-185\}Cl_2]$ and AgOTs, toluene, -20 °C, 18 h. ^{*b*} Ratio of isomers refers to *trans/cis* or *E/Z*.



Scheme 54



phenols and naphthols with cyclic as well as acyclic dienes to form dihydrobenzopyran and dihydrobenzofuran.⁹⁰

2.2.4. Cyclization of Alkynes

Deng and co-workers reported the reactions of propargylic alcohols 193 with CO₂ in a [BMIm][PhSO₃]/CuCl catalyst

Scheme 55



Scheme 56



Scheme 57



Scheme 58



 R^1 = COOMe, COOEt, CH₂OBn, Ph; R^2 = cyclohex-2-enyl, but-2-enyl, allyl, but-3-enyl, 4-hydroxybut-2-enyl, C₄H₆OTIPS, propargyl, Cl, ^{*n*}Bu, Bn, cinnamyl

system to produce the corresponding α -methylene cyclic carbonates **194** in high yields (Scheme 56).⁹¹ It was reported that copper catalysts immobilized in ionic liquids could be reused three times without losing their activity. A silver-catalyzed process was also reported recently by Yamada and co-workers.⁹²

The synthesis of benzodioxepinone **196a** and benzoxazepinone **196b** via cyclization of alkynoic acid **195a** and **195b**, respectively, in the presence of 5 mol % cuprous iodide and 1 equiv of triethyl amine in acetonitrile at 80 °C, was reported by Chaudhuri and Kundu (Scheme 57).⁹³ Quite recently, the cyclization of alkynoic acids under extremely mild conditions in the presence of AuCl catalysts and without additives was reported (Scheme 58).⁹⁴ A gold-catalyzed *N*-acyl iminium ion cyclization cascade, triggered by the intramolecular addition of carboxylic acid to tethered alkynes, was reported by Dixon and co-workers.⁹⁵

Nandi and Kundu reported copper-catalyzed cyclization of **197** into (*E*)-2-substituted benzothiazolines **198** (Scheme







Ar = Ph, 1-Np, m-Cl-C₆H₄, p-Cl-C₆H₄, o-Cl-C₆H₄, p-OMe-C₆H₄, o-OMe-C₆H₄, 2-thienyl

Scheme 61



Scheme 62



R = Bn, Bu, ^tBu, H, R² = H, Et; R³ = Me, ⁿBu, Ph; R⁴ = Bu, CH=CMe₂

Scheme 63



59).⁹⁶ Isomerization of **197** to the allenic intermediates **199** was proposed as a key step. Interestingly, they found that, when substrates of type **200** were subjected to CuI catalysis in the presence of K_2CO_3 in DMF at 100 °C, 2-aroylquinoxalines **201** were obtained (Scheme 60).⁹⁷ They also extended their approach for the synthesis of (*E*)-2-(2-arylvinyl)quinazolinones **203** from **202** (Scheme 61).⁹⁸

The cyclization of (*Z*)-(2-en-4-ynyl)amines **204** into pyrroles **205** was reported by Gabriele and co-workers (Scheme 62).⁹⁹ CuCl₂ was found to be an excellent catalyst for the cyclization of the substrates substituted at C-3, while PdX₂ in conjuction with KX (X = Cl, I) turned out to be a superior catalyst for the reaction of enynamines unsubstituted at C-3.

Dalla and Pale reported the cyclization of alkynylacetic acids **206**, which efficiently gave lactones **207** (Scheme 63).¹⁰⁰ Negishi and Xu showed that Ag catalyzed lactonization of alkynoic acid **208** for the synthesis of (*Z*)- γ -alkylidenebutenolide **209**, a precursor for the synthesis of lissoclinolide (Scheme 64).¹⁰¹ It is interesting to note that *exo-dig/endo-dig* cyclization depends on the nature of catalysts.¹⁰² Rossi and co-workers also reported the cycliza-

Scheme 64



Scheme 65



Table 15

$$R^{1} \xrightarrow{HO} R^{2} \xrightarrow{AgNO_{3}/silica} R^{1} \xrightarrow{O} R^{2}$$

\mathbb{R}^1	\mathbb{R}^2	time (h)	equiv of AgNO ₃	yield (%)
C ₂ H ₁₅	C ₅ H ₁₁	1	0.1	96
MOMO(CH ₂) ₄	Et	0.25	0.2	99
MOMO(CH ₂) ₄	H	0.25	0.2	89

Table 16



tion of bromoalkynylacetic acids **210** into the (*Z*)-3-bromo-5-ylidene-5*H*-furan-2-ones **211** (Scheme 65).¹⁰³

Marshall et al. reported the synthesis of furans **213** from β -alkynyl allylic alcohols **212** in high yields under AgNO₃ catalysis (Table 15).⁴⁴ They examined the activity of other silver salts such as AgOTf, AgBF₄, and AgOTFA, all of which gave comparable yields of the products.

The use of a cationic gold complex is reported for the conversion of (*Z*)-enynols **214** into butenolides **215** (Table 16).¹⁰⁴ The cleavage of carbon–carbon triple bonds in (*Z*)-enynols under mild conditions is an important feature of this reaction. It was proposed that the intermediate **216** was produced via gold-catalyzed intramolecular hydroalkoxylation and was further converted to butenolide by reaction with dioxygen.

Scheme 66





Scheme 68



Ding and Peng developed a novel and effective Ag_2CO_3 catalyzed cyclization of (*Z*)-2-alken-4-ynylphosphonic monoesters **217** to 2-ethoxy-2*H*-1,2-oxaphosphorin 2-oxides **218** in CH₂Cl₂ at room temperature (Scheme 66).¹⁰⁵ This is the first example of the cyclization of P(O)–OH to substituted alkynes and might be of synthetic interest. Coordination of the alkynyl moiety of **217** with Ag(I) activates the triple bond (cf. **219**). Regioselective nucleophilic attack of the triple bond by the phosphonyl oxygen in the *endo* fashion gave the vinyl silver species **220**, which subsequently underwent proton transfer with regeneration of the silver catalyst to produce **218**.

The cyclization of *O*-propargyl carbamates **221** afforded 4-methylene-2-oxazolidinones **222** via intramolecular nucleophilic addition of a nitrogen atom to alkynes (Scheme 67).¹⁰⁶ The reaction is highly dependent on the kind of substituent (\mathbb{R}^1) on nitrogen. Later, Murai¹⁰⁷ and Schmalz¹⁰⁸ independently reported similar processes. Shin et al. reported the synthesis of 2,5-dihydroisoxazoles via gold-catalyzed intramolecular hydroamination of *O*-propargyl-*N*-Boc-hydroxylamines.¹⁰⁹ The gold-catalyzed intramolecular hydroamination of a hexacyclic substructure of communesin B **223** (Scheme 68).¹¹⁰

Pale and Chuche reported silver-catalyzed cyclization of acetylenic alcohols **224** which led to 2-methylene-oxolanes **225** in high yields.¹¹¹ As can be judged from Table 17, the cyclization of the acetylenic alcohols, in which the two reacting parts of the molecule are relatively close together in space, required only catalytic amounts of Ag₂CO₃, while other reactions needed a stoichiometric quantity. Later, a gold-catalyzed intramolecular process was developed by the same research group.¹¹² Jung and Floreancig reported gold-catalyzed synthesis of oxygen- and nitrogen-containing heterocycles, homopropargylic ethers containing pendent oxygen or nitrogen nucleophiles.¹¹³

Table 17



Scheme 69



Ar = 2-NH₂-C₆H₅, 2-MeO-C₆H₅, 4-NO₂-C₆H₅, 2-Me-C₆H₅, 4-F-C₆H₅

Scheme 70



A novel synthetic approach to the synthesis of enantiomerically pure 2,5-disubstituted pyrrolines **227** was described by Rutjes et al. (Scheme 69).¹¹⁴ The methodology involves a Ag-catalyzed 5-*endo-dig* cyclization of amino alkynes obtained from **226** after removal of *N*-Boc functionality.

The concept of silver-catalyzed intramolecular hydroamination was extended by Dovey and co-workers for the synthesis of *N*-bridgehead pyrroles **229** from amino alkynes **228** using microwave irradiation. The reaction was believed to proceed via intermediate **230** which, on proton migration, affords products (Scheme 70).¹¹⁵

The gold-catalyzed cyclization of (*Z*)-enynols **231** gave (*Z*)-5-ylidene-2,5-dihydrofurans **232** and fully substituted furans **233**, depending on the nature of the R¹ group (Scheme 71).¹¹⁶ For instance, when R⁵ = alkyl or aryl, **232** was formed. On the other hand, when R⁵ = H, **233** was obtained. Two reaction conditions were employed: (i) AuCl₃ in CH₂Cl₂ and (ii) (PPh₃)AuCl/AgOTf. Both of them generally gave product in high yields.

Krause and Belting reported the tandem cyclization-hydroalkoxylation of homopropargylic alcohols **234** in the presence of an alcohol and a dual catalyst system co-



nsisting of a gold catalyst and a Brønsted acid (Scheme 72).¹¹⁷ The process offers an attractive and efficient route for the synthesis of tetrahydrofuranyl ethers **235** in moderate to good yields. Not only alcohols but also electron-rich arenes can also be used as nucleophile for this reaction.¹¹⁸ This concept of a dual catalyst system consisting of a gold catalyst and a Brønsted acid has been applied for the synthesis of A–D rings of azaspiracid **238** from suitably functionalized alkyne substrate **236** (Scheme 73).¹¹⁹

A highly atom-economical procedure for the cyclization of bis-homopropargylic diols **239** was described by Genet and co-workers (Scheme 74).¹²⁰ The process provided access to the strained bicyclic ketals **240** under extremely mild conditions. Lewis acid-type activation of alkynes was reported in order to effect the two intramolecular cyclizations, as shown in intermediate **241**. Brabander and Liu reported gold-catalyzed synthesis of spiroketals from unactivated internal alkynols.¹²¹

Barluenga et al. reported tandem 6-*exo-dig* cyclization/ Prins-type cyclization of allyl-substituted 5-hexyn-1-ol derivatives **242** catalyzed by AuCl₃ (Scheme 75).¹²² The bicyclic heterocycles **243** were obtained in excellent yields. Optimization studies revealed that AuCl₃ catalyst is efficient compared to AuCl. The reaction was initiated by coordination of gold to the triple bond, giving intermediate **244**, which on subsquent Prins-type cyclization (cf. **245**) afforded **243**.

The gold-catalyzed intramolecular addition of amines to alkynes for the synthesis of piperidines was reported by Utimoto and Fukuda (Scheme 76).¹²³ 5-Alkynylamines **246**, on reaction with catalytic amounts of NaAuCl₄, afforded 2,3,4,5-tetrahydropyridines **247** in high yields.

The gold(III)-catalyzed sequential amination/annulation reaction of 2-propynyl-1,3-dicarbonyl compounds **248** with primary amines produces 1,2,3,5-substituted pyrroles **249** in moderate to high yields (Scheme 77).¹²⁴ Reaction of **248** with primary amines under the reaction conditions generates enaminone intermediate **250**. Cyclization of **250** through a 5-*exo-dig* pathway, followed by protonolysis of the resulting C-Au bond and subsequent isomerization reaction, affords the pyrroles **249**.

2.3. Cyclization of *Ortho*-Substituted Ethynylbenzene Derivatives

The transition metal-catalyzed synthesis of various heterocycles via cyclization of alkynes with nucleophiles tethered through aromatic rings is one of the most important processes in organic synthesis. The use of coinage metals to activate the alkynes is very common for this purpose. The synthesis of benzofurans is one of the simplest examples of this reaction (Scheme 78). If one of the carbon atoms in a benzene ring is replaced by a heteroatom, the methodology provides an efficient access to furans fused with heteroaromatics. For example, reaction of **251** under Cu catalysis produced the furopyridine **252** in 86% yield (Scheme 79).¹²⁵ The TMS group did not survive under the reaction conditions.

Ding and Peng reported the Cu(I) iodide-catalyzed cyclization of *o*-ethynylphenylphosphonic acid monoethyl esters **253**, which led to the formation of phosphaisocoumarins **254** (Scheme 80).¹²⁶ In all cases, only six-membered products were obtained via 6-*endo-dig* cyclization. The activation of alkyne by copper catalyst and enhancement of the nucleophilicity of the PO–H bond by the use of DMF are the key features of this reaction. The simplest example of this type was reported by Hashmi et al.¹²⁷ Ding's group later developed a novel procedure for the incorporation of an allyl group in the phosphaisocoumarins, as shown in Scheme 81.¹²⁸ Pal and co-workers reported a similar type of cyclization for the synthesis of benzothiazines from *o*-(1alkynyl)benzenesulfonamides.¹²⁹

A new method for the synthesis of cyclic alkenyl ethers **256** via the Cu(I)-catalyzed intramolecular cyclization of *o*-alkynylbenzaldehydes **255** with alcohols has been developed by us (Table 18).¹³⁰ The reaction most likely proceeds through the formation of benzopyrilium cation **257**, which undergo trapping by alcohols. A survey of metal catalysts and solvents revealed that the combination of copper(I) iodide and DMF was the catalytic system of choice. The superiority of this catalyst system is evident by the fact that even terminal alkynes gave the desired products, in comparison with the previous catalyst system, [Pd(OAc)₂], which gave the products.¹³¹ Shi et al. reported an interesting reactivity pattern when they treated alkynyl epoxide and alcohol/water with gold catalysts.¹³²

We have also reported a novel procedure for the incorporation of an allene moiety into the isochromenes. The silver(I)-catalyzed cascade cyclization reaction of alkynones **258** with alcohols represents a general and versatile approach to the 1-allenyl chromenes **259** (Table 19).¹³³ The reaction was tolerated over a wide range of substrates, except for the terminal alkynes and TMS-protected alkynes. The reaction most probably proceeds through the benzopyrylium cation **260**.

A tandem alkynylation–cyclization of terminal alkynes with *o*-alkynylaryl aldehydes leading to 1-alkynyl-1*H*-isochromenes **261** by using a gold–phosphine complex as catalyst in water was developed by Li and Yao (Scheme 82).¹³⁴ Mechanistically, the reaction of terminal alkynes with Me₃AuCl in the presence of a weak base generates the gold acetylide, which then forms the chelating intermediate **262**, followed by attack to the triple bond to give the vinylgold intermediate **263**. The intermediate **263** then affords the final product by protonolysis, followed by regeneration of the catalyst.



Scheme 74



R = Bn, Ph, *n*-Bu, cinnamyl n = 2, allyl n = 2, cyclohex-2-enyl, 3-methylbut-2-enyl



Scheme 75





243b R¹ = Me, R = Et, 96% 243c R¹ = ⁱPr, R = Et, 88% 243d R¹ = ^tBu, R = Et, 91%

OR



Scheme 76



This chemistry has also been applied for the synthesis of various azaphilones, which are known to be a component of many natural products. Gold-catalyzed cyclization of *o*-alkynylbenzaldehydes **264** into 2-benzopyrylium salts and subsequent oxidation using IBX in conjuction with a phase-transfer catalyst provided products **265** in high yields (Scheme 83).¹³⁵ A copper-mediated enantioselective version

Scheme 77



Scheme 78



Scheme 79



Scheme 80



CH₂OH, CH₂OCH₃, H, cyclopropyl

of the above process to give enantiomerically pure azaphilones **267** has been reported by the same research group (Scheme 84).¹³⁶ The intermediacy of **268** was proposed for this novel cyclization.

The indole nucleus is a prominent structural motif found in numerous natural products and synthetic compounds with important biological activities. Similar to the cyclization of *o*-alkynylphenols, *o*-alkynylamines undergo cyclization under





Table 18



entry	R	R ¹	R ² OH	yield (%)
1	н	<i>n</i> -Pr	ⁿ BuOH	97
2	н	<i>n</i> -Pr	СОН	82
3	н	<i>n</i> -Pr	<i>i</i> PrOH	98
4 ^a	н	<i>n</i> -Pr	BnOH	53
5	н	н	MeOH	99
6	н	Н	<i>i</i> PrOH	98
7	CF_3	<i>n</i> -Pr	MeOH	93
8	CF_3	<i>n</i> -Pr	<i>i</i> PrOH	85
9	н	<i>n</i> -Bu	MeOH	87
10	н	TMS	MeOH	91
11	н	Ph	MeOH	93
12	н	Ph	<i>i</i> PrOH	91
13	н	CH ₂ OMe	MeOH	88
14	н	CH ₂ OMe	<i>i</i> PrOH	92

copper catalysis, giving indoles in a highly atom-economical manner (Scheme 85). $^{137}\,$

Hiroya et al. studied the cyclization of **269** in the presence of Cu(II) salts and found that copper acetate was the best catalyst for the synthesis of various 1-*p*-tolylsulfonyl- or 1-methylsulfonylindoles **270** (Scheme 86).¹³⁸ The methodology is quite general and tolerates both electron-donating and electron-withdrawing substituents on the aromatic ring. It should be noted that Cu(OTf)₂ showed good activities for the primary aniline derivatives, while Cu(OAc)₂ was a good catalyst for the cyclization of the secondary anilines. Hiroya's group also developed the sequential cyclization of 2-ethynylaniline derivatives **271**, which have a leaving group at the end of the carbon chain (Scheme 87). As can be judged from the yields of the products, the ratio of **272a/272b** was dependent on the ring size of the products; larger ring formation does not take place.

Copper(I) salts in DMF is also a well-known catalyst system for the cyclization of *o*-alkynyl amines **273** (Scheme 88).¹³⁹ Indoles **274** were obtained in excellent yields; however, the TMS group did not survive. A similar observation of deprotection of the TMS group was also made by others.¹⁴⁰

The CuI-mediated synthesis of 5-azaindole 276 from acetylenic aminopyridine 275 was reported by Xu et al.



^a A mixture of unidentified products was obtained.

Scheme 82



(Scheme 89).¹⁴¹ Reaction at a temperature higher than 80 $^{\circ}$ C resulted in deprotection of the Boc group of the product. At 80 $^{\circ}$ C, **276** was obtained in 84% yield.

rt, then Na₂S₂O₃

61-82%

ÓН

264

r

265

Larock et al. reported the cyclization of 2-(1-alkynyl)benzaldimines **277** into a variety of 3-arylisoquinolines **278** in the presence of 10 mol % CuI at 100 °C in DMF (Scheme



Scheme 85





Scheme 87



When n = 1, 272a (67%) and 272b (0%) When n = 2, 272a (64%) and 272b (13%) When n = 3, 272a (0%) and 272b (59%)

Scheme 88



Scheme 89



90).¹⁴² The methodology was also extended for the synthesis of β - and γ -carbolines.¹⁴³

We have recently reported the reaction of *o*-alkynylaryl aldimines **279** with various nucleophiles, which gave 1,2-dihydroisoquinolines **280** (Scheme 91).¹⁴⁴ Examples of pronucleophiles include nitromethane, acetyl acetone, dimethyl malonate, malononitrile, acetone, and acetonitrile. The

Scheme 90



Scheme 91



H-Nu: CH₃NO₂, acac, CH₂(COOMe)₂, CH₂(CN)₂, acetone CH₃CN; R¹ = Ph, C₄H₉, Bn; R² = Ph, C₄H₉, 1-cC₆H₉



Scheme 92



Scheme 93



reaction was carried out in the presence of 3 mol % AgOTf in dichloroethane solvent at 60–80 °C. Not only simple carbon nucleophiles but also terminal alkynes could be used as a pronucleophile for the present reaction. It was proposed that the generation of isoquinolinium salts **281** was the key step for the reaction to proceed. The research group of Takemoto has shown that this reaction can also be catalyzed by gold complexes.¹⁴⁵ Ding and Wu reported tandem AgOTf and proline catalysis for the synthesis of 1,2-dihydroisoquinolines from 2-alkynylbenzaldehydes, amines, and ketones.¹⁴⁶ The use of diethylphosphite as a nucleophile is also known for this reaction.¹⁴⁷

We have reported a new method for the synthesis of *N*-(alkoxycarbonyl)-indoles **283** via AuCl₃-catalyzed cyclization of 2-(alkynyl)phenylisocyanates **282** in the presence of alcohols (Scheme 92).¹⁴⁸ The product was obtained in 57% yield, along with side product **284** in 32% yield. Other gold catalysts, such as NaAuCl₄•2H₂O, gave **283** and **284** in 41 and 40% yields, respectively.

Recently, we have reported AuBr₃-catalyzed cyclization of *o*-alkynylnitrobenzenes **285** (Scheme 93).¹⁴⁹ This reaction afforded isatogens **286** or anthranils **287**, depending on the nature of R¹. For instance, when R¹ = Ar or cyclohexenyl, the corresponding isatogens **286** were formed in a major amount, together with small amounts of anthranils **287**. However, when R¹ = Pr or 'Bu, the corresponding anthranils







287 were obtained as a sole product. The mechanism of the reaction is interesting and is depicted in Scheme 94. As common intermediates, **288** and **289** are most probably involved in the formation of both types of products.

The gold-catalyzed reaction of 2-alkynyl-phenylamines **290** with α , β -enones **291** in the presence of catalytic amounts of NaAuCl₄·2H₂O was reported (Scheme 95).¹⁵⁰ These sequential cyclization/alkylation reactions provided access to C-3-substituted indoles **292** in good yields. It was reported that Au(III) salts exhibited higher activity compared to Pd(II) and Cu(II) catalysts. Indoles and furans, on reaction with enones in the presence of the Au catalyst, afforded C-3-substituted products¹⁵¹ and C-2-substituted products,¹⁵² respectively, indicating that **293** might be the true intermediate for the reaction. It was thought that the intermediate **293**, on reaction with **291**, would give **294** which, on protonolysis/ regeneration of catalyst, would afford C-3-substituted indoles **292**.

A highly efficient method for the preparation of tricyclic indole derivatives **296**, having a substituent at the 3-position of the indole nucleus, from *N*-(o-alkynylphenyl)imines **295** was established by Iwasawa and co-workers (Scheme 96).¹⁵³ The reaction of ylides **297**, derived from **295**, with olefins afforded **298**. Subsequent 1,2 migration of the R² group, followed by demetalation, gave **296**. The products were





obtained in high yields, although they generally consisted of a diastereomeric mixture. Terminal alkynes were not tolerated under this condition.

301a R = ^{*n*}Bu, 49% **301b** R = Ph, 38%

80 °C, 6 h

299a R = ⁿBu

299b R = Ph

Dyker and co-workers reported AuCl₃-catalyzed intramolecular hydroamination of optically pure **299**, which gave chiral dihydroisoquinolines **300** and isoindoles **301** (Scheme 97).¹⁵⁴ The former was obtained via 6-*endo*-dig cyclization, whereas the latter was obtained from the 5-*exo*-dig cyclization/isomerization cascade. An achiral example of this type of reaction catalyzed by silver has been reported recently.¹⁵⁵ Gabriele et al. developed a route for the synthesis of substituted quinolines by regioselective copper-catalyzed dehydrative cyclization of anilino-alkynes.¹⁵⁶

Recently, synthesis of 2-(aminomethyl)indoles **303** from aminoalkynes **302**, through a copper(I)-catalyzed threecomponent coupling reaction, has been reported (Table 20).¹⁵⁷ The reaction proceeded through a Mannich-type reaction, followed by the formation of indoles from the intermediate **304**. It should be noted that no formation of [2-(*N*-tosylamino)phenyl]allene was obtained in this case, although such allene formation is known in the literature.¹⁵⁸

A new approach to *N*-vinylindoles **305** was reported by Li and co-workers, starting from *o*-alkynylanilines (Scheme 98).¹⁵⁹ Since the reaction of 2-phenyl-1*H*-indole and phenyl acetylene did not proceed under standard conditions, they proposed a double-hydroamination mechanism (cf. **306** and **307**).

The gold-catalyzed intramolecular carbothiolation of alkynes for the synthesis of 2,3-disubstituted ben-



Scheme 98



zothiophenes has been reported by us (Table 21).¹⁶⁰ The reaction involves the migration of groups such as α -alkoxy alkyl, PMB, and allyl from the sulfur atom to the alkyne. Various thiophene derivatives **309a**–**c** were obtained from readily available **308a**–**c**, respectively. A plausible mecha-



nism is illustrated in Scheme 99. Nucleophilic attack of the sulfur atom of **310** to gold-coordinated alkyne gave the cyclized intermediate **311**. Migration of the R groups of **311** to the carbon atom bonded to the gold atom produces the intermediate **312** which, on elimination of gold catalyst, gave the products. Recently, we have shown that a SiR₃ group is also capable of such 1,3 migration.¹⁶¹

We have also reported gold-catalyzed intramolecular amino-sulfonylation (formal addition of a N–S bond to a triple bond) for the synthesis of 3-sulfonylindoles **314** (Table 22).¹⁶² The method involved the treatment of *o*-alkynyl-*N*-sulfonylanilines **313** with cat. AuBr₃ in toluene at 80 °C for 1 h. The mechanism is similar to that reported for benzothiophene synthesis (see Scheme 99). Gagosz and Istrate reported a similar type of reaction for pyrrole synthesis, and they proposed an aza-Claisen-type mechanism.¹⁶³





2.4. Tandem sp-sp² Coupling/Cyclization

A copper(I)-catalyzed procedure for the synthesis of 2-arylbenzo[b]furans 316 from o-iodophenols 315 and terminal arylalkynes was described by Venkataraman and co-workers (Scheme 100).¹⁶⁴ This method could tolerate a variety of functional groups, and it is noteworthy that the reaction did not require the use of palladium.

320

A new method for the synthesis of 2-aryl- and 2-heteroarylindoles 318 from o-iodoanilines 317 and terminal arylalkynes through a domino copper-catalyzed process was reported by Cacchi and co-workers (Scheme 101).¹⁶⁵ The best results were obtained with [Cu(phen)(PPh₃)₂]NO₃ in the presence of K₃PO₄ in toluene or 1,4-dioxane at 110 °C. An alternative catalyst derived from CuI and PPh₃ can be used with equal ease. The same group also extended this approach for the synthesis of quinoxalines 320 from 2-bromo-3trifluoroacetamidoquinoxaline 319, adopting the same methodology (Scheme 102).¹⁶⁶ Ma and co-workers reported a similar cyclization process using CuI/L-proline as catalyst.¹⁶⁷

3. Cycloaddition Reactions

The transition metal-catalyzed cycloaddition reaction is one of the most efficient methods for the synthesis of a variety of heterocyclic compounds. Research in this area has been extensively reviewed.¹⁶⁸ Like other transition metals, coinage metals could also be used as a catalyst.

3.1. [3+2] Cycloaddition

The [3+2] cycloaddition reaction provides an efficient tool for the formation of five-membered heterocycles.¹⁶⁹ For example, triazoles, tetrazoles, isoxazoles, substituted pyrrolidines, isoxazolidines, and related heterocycles can be obtained efficiently. The copper-catalyzed [3+2] cycloaddition between alkyne and azide species (click chemistry) is Scheme 103



Scheme 104





325a R = Ph, 93% 325b R = *p*-NO₂-C₆H₄, 86% **325c** R = p-CN-C₆H₄, 84% 325d R = CH₂Ph, 88%

also thoroughly reviewed and is not covered in this review. Only selected examples are described here.

3.1.1. Triazole/Isoxazole-Forming Reactions

Recently, we have reported the copper-catalyzed synthesis of triazoles. The [3+2] cycloddition of nonactivated terminal alkynes and trimethylsilyl azide proceeded smoothly in the presence of CuI catalyst in DMF-MeOH (9:1) to give N-unsubstituted 1,2,3-triazoles 321 in good yields (Scheme 103).¹⁷⁰ The reaction proceeds through the in situ formation of a copper acetylide species and hydrazoic acid, followed by a [3+2] cycloaddition reaction (cf. 322). This reaction avoids the use of harmful hydrazoic acid (HN₃), which was used in the previous synthesis.

Sharpless and co-workers reported that copper-catalyzed regiospecific reaction between terminal alkynes and organic azides gave 1,4-disubstituted 1,2,3-triazoles. For example, the reaction between phenyl propargyl ether 323 and benzylazide in the presence of 5 mol % of sodium ascorbate and 1 mol % of copper sulfate in a 2:1 mixture of water and *tert*-butyl alcohol furnished the 1,4-disubstituted triazole product 324 in 91% yield after stirring for 8 h at room temperature (Scheme 104).¹⁷¹

A microwave-assisted and copper-catalyzed three-component reaction between alkyl halides, sodium azide, and alkynes for the synthesis of triazoles 310 was reported by Eycken and co-workers (Scheme 105).¹⁷² Yields and regioselectivity were reported to be very high in all cases. Most importantly, these copper-catalyzed reactions do not require



Scheme 107



Scheme 108



the handling of organic azides, as they are generated in situ. Another copper-catalyzed three-component coupling involves the treatment of amines, propargyl halides, and organic azides in water (Scheme 106).¹⁷³ The triazoles **326** were obtained in good to excellent yields.

Recently, Fokin et al. reported the synthesis of 3,5disubstituted isoxazoles **328** by a one-pot, three-step procedure utilizing a regioselective copper(I)-catalyzed cycloaddition reaction between nitrile oxides **329**, generated in situ from aldehydes **327**, and terminal alkynes (Scheme 107).¹⁷⁴

3.1.2. Reactions of Azomethine Ylides

Reaction of azomethine ylides with alkene/alkynes offers an attractive strategy for the synthesis of pyrrolidine rings.¹⁷⁵ Only representative examples are described here. Grigg and co-workers studied the Ag(I)-promoted cycloaddition between methyl acrylate and the azomethine ylides derived from indole-based imines **330** (Scheme 108).¹⁷⁶ Imines **330** were treated with methyl acrylate (1.2 equiv), AgOAc (1.2 equiv), and DBU in MeCN to afford cycloadducts **331**. In all cases, the *endo* cycloadduct was obtained regio- and stereospecifically in good yields.

Grigg and co-workers reported the synthesis of spirooxindoles **335** by intramolecular Heck reaction followed by 1,3-dipolar cycloaddition using palladium and silver catalysts (Scheme 109).¹⁷⁷ The palladium catalyst promotes the intramolecular Heck reaction of **332**, to afford a relatively unstable 3-methyleneoxindole intermediate **333**. Introduction of the Ag salt together with the imines **334** and DBU provides the spiro-oxindoles **335** regiospecifically. The same group also developed a one-pot procedure involving cyclotrimerization and imine cycloaddtion.¹⁷⁸ The Rh(I)-catalyzed [2+2+2] cyclotrimerization of 1,6-diyne **336** with monoyne **337** led to the formation of **338** which, on subsequent silvercatalyzed cycloaddition with imines **334**, gave the complex heterocyclic benzene derivatives **339** (Scheme 110). Scheme 109



Scheme 110





Scheme 111



An interesting observation regarding the reversal of the stereochemistry of the product controlled by the catalyst was reported by Toke and co-workers (Scheme 111).¹⁷⁹ The [1,3] dipolar cycloaddition between an ester-stabilized azomethine ylide and aryl-nitro olefins **340**, catalyzed by Li(I) salts, gave a mixture of diasteromeric products **341**, in which the different stereochemistry arose from processes catalyzed by Ag(I).

Recent research revealed that these reactions can be carried out in a catalytic asymmetric manner by the use of chiral ligands. A stereocontrolled constrution of substituted pyrrolidines **343** via Cu(I)-catalyzed asymmetric 1,3-dipolar cycloadditon of azomethine ylides with acrylates **342** was reported by Zhang and co-workers (Scheme 112).¹⁸⁰ The ferrocenyl-based ligand **344** was effective for this reaction. The *exo* adduct was obtained as the major product in all cases, with high enantioselectivity. Interestingly, the reaction of an α -imino ester with *N*-phenylmaleimide **345** in the presence of copper(I) catalyst and Fesulphos ligand **347** gave *endo* product **346** selectively (Scheme 113).¹⁸¹ A Cu(II)–BINAP catalyst system is also reported to catalyze the asymmetric 1,3-dipolar cycloaddition reaction; however, yields and ee's



Scheme 113



Scheme 114



R = Ph, *p*-toluyl, *p*-anisole, 4-chlorophenyl, 4-fluorophenyl, 4-cyanophenyl 2-chlorophenyl, *o*-toluyl, 1-naphthyl, 2-naphthyl, 3-pyridyl, *i*-Pr, cyclohexyl



are reported to be lower.¹⁸² Carretero and co-workers reported Cu(I)-catalyzed enantioselective [3+2] cycloaddition of azomethine ylides with vinyl sulfones.¹⁸³

Zhang and co-workers reported silver-catalyzed asymmetric [3+2] cycloaddition of azomethine ylides (Scheme 114).¹⁸⁴ Using a ferrocene-based chiral phosphine ligand **350**, the cycloaddition of imino ester with dimethyl maleate **348** proceeded smoothly to give the pyrrolidines **349** in high yields with high ee's. Following that report, Carreira,¹⁸⁵ Hou,¹⁸⁶ and Schreiber¹⁸⁷ independently described the asymmetric version of this process. An interesting observation of hydrogen-bonding-directed reversal of enantioselectivity was reported recently.¹⁸⁸ Najera et al. developed recyclable chiral (*R*)- or (*S*)-binap-AgClO₄ complexes for this purpose.¹⁸⁹

The enantioselective 1,3-dipolar cycloaddition of azomethine ylides, generated in situ from imino esters and alkenes for the synthesis of pyrrolidines **351**, was described by Jorgensen et al. (Scheme 115).¹⁹⁰ The chincona alkaloid **352** was used as a chiral base. This process does not need special precautions such as drying, degasifying, or the use of an inert atmosphere.

Pandey et al. described sequential double desilylation of 353 by Ag(I)F for the generation of a nonstabilized azomethine ylide and its application for the synthesis of 1-azabicyclo

Scheme 115



 $R^1 = p$ -Me-C₆H₄, C₆H₄, *o*-MeO-C₆H₄, *m*-MeO-C₆H₄, *p*-MeO-C₆H₄, *p*-MeO-C₆H₄, *p*-MeO₂C-C₆H₄, *p*-MeO₂C-C₆H₄, 2-furyl, 1-naphthyl, 2-napthyl, cyclohexyl, *t*-Bu-CH₂, *i*-Pr; R² = Me, *t*-Bu; R³ = Me, *t*-Bu



hydrocinchonine (HC) 352

Scheme 116



[3.3.0]alkane **354** (Scheme 116).¹⁹¹ They also achieved the asymmetric synthesis of azabicyclo compounds **358** by [3+2] cycloaddition reactions of cyclic azomethine ylides **355** with Oppolzer's acryloyl camphor sultam **356**, followed by removal of the chiral auxiliary from the cycloadducts **357a** (Scheme 117).¹⁹² Pioneering work from the same group revealed that the intermolecular reaction could be extended to an intramolecular version for the synthesis of **360** from **359** (Scheme 118).¹⁹³ Successful application of these methodologies for the syntheses of (\pm) -pancracine,¹⁹⁴ epiboxidine,¹⁹⁵ and epibatidine and analogues¹⁹⁶ has been reported.

A silver-catalyzed [3+2] cycloaddition reaction between azalactones **361** and *N*-phenylmaleimide was reported by Tepe et al. (Table 23).¹⁹⁷ The reaction proceeded in the presence of 10 mol % AgOAc in THF at room temperature to provide highly substituted *exo*-pyrrolines **362**. An asymmetric version of this process was reported by Toste et al., using chiral gold complexes.¹⁹⁸ Grigg and co-workers reported a silver-catalyzed cycloaddition reaction between methyl isocyanoacetate and alkenes to form pyrrolines **363** in good yields (Scheme 119).¹⁹⁹

Alkynes can also be used as dipolarophiles instead of alkenes. Fu and Shintani reported asymmetric 1,3-dipolar cycloadditions of azomethine imines **349** with alkynes, catalyzed by Cu(I) complexes. By employing a phosphaferrocene oxazoline **366** as a chiral bidentate ligand, heterocycles **365** were obtained in high yields and enantioselectivities (Scheme 120).²⁰⁰ It was assumed that the formation of copper acetylide took place at the beginning, which enhanced the reactivity of the dipolarophiles.

The copper-catalyzed reaction of isocyanides **367** with electron-deficient alkynes **368** gave substituted pyrroles **369** (Scheme 121).²⁰¹ Among the catalysts tested, the combination of Cu₂O and 1,10-phenanthroline showed the highest catalytic activity. A proposed mechanism is illustrated in Scheme 122. 1,4-Addition of the nucleophilic intermediate **370a** or **370b**, generated from **367** with the extrusion of H₂O,



Scheme 118



Table 23



1PhBn672Ph3-indolylmethyl702N70	6)
2 Ph 3-indolylmethyl 70	
3 Me Me 59	
4 Bn Me 75	

Scheme 119



to the alkynes **368** takes place first. The newly generated copper enolate would intramolecularly attack the isonitrile carbon to generate the cyclized intermediate **371**. This process can be termed a formal [3+2] cycloaddition process. The C-Cu bond in the intermediate **371** is protonated by isocyanides, and the intermediate **372** is produced with regeneration of the copper intermediate **370**. 1,5-Hydrogen shift in **372** forms the pyrroles **369**.

Hayashi et al. reported a silver(I)-catalyzed asymmetric aldol reaction of methyl isocyanoacetate with aldehydes in the presence of chiral ferrocinyl-based ligand **374** (Scheme 123).²⁰² The chiral oxazolines **373** were obtained by this method, and their ee's ranged from 37 to 88%. Not only aldehydes but also ketones, although fluoroalkyl ketones, could be employed for this reaction (Scheme 124).²⁰³ High diastereoselectivity (**375a**:**375b**) was achieved in the case

Scheme 120



 $\begin{array}{l} \mathsf{R} = \mathsf{Ph}, \, o\text{-}\mathsf{FC}_6\mathsf{H}_4, \, m\text{-}\mathsf{BrC}_6\mathsf{H}_4, \, p\text{-}\mathsf{CF}_3\mathsf{C}_6\mathsf{H}_4, \, 1\text{-}cyclohexenyl, \, n\text{-}pentyl, \\ \mathsf{cy}; \, \mathsf{R}^1 = \mathsf{CO}_2\mathsf{Et}, \, \mathsf{CO}_2\mathsf{Me}, \, \mathsf{CONMePh}, \, p\text{-}\mathsf{EtO}_2\mathsf{CC}_6\mathsf{H}_4, \, p\text{-}\mathsf{CF}_3\mathsf{C}_6\mathsf{H}_4, \\ 2\text{-}pyridyl, \, \mathsf{Ph}, \, n\text{-}pentyl \end{array}$



Scheme 121



Ph, H, COOEt

of the fluorinated ketones, but a very poor diastereoselectivity was obtained in the similar reaction of the non-fluorinated ketones. Gold(I) complexes are also capable of this transformation.²⁰⁴

Recently, Porco and Su reported an efficient synthesis of pyrroloisoquinolines **377** related to the lamellarin natural products involving domino cyclization/[3+2] dipolar cycloaddition of alkynyl *N*-benzylidene glycinates **376** (Table 24).²⁰⁵ It was reported that the intramolecular cyclization in **376** gave isoquinolinium species which, on subsequent proton transfer and regeneration of Ag(I), afforded azomethine ylides **378** which, on [3+2] dipolar cycloaddition followed by isomerization and oxidation, gave pyrroloisoquinolines **377**.

A highly diastereoselective copper-catalyzed three-component coupling reaction between imine, diazo compound, and olefins for the synthesis of spiropyrrolidinyloxindoles was reported by Scheidt and co-workers. For example, the treatment of **379** with imine and ethyl diazoacetate in the presence of catalytic amounts of $(C_6H_5) \cdot [(Cu(OTf)]_2)$ in refluxing dichloromethane gave spiropyrrolidinyloxindoles **380** in high yield and diastereoselectivity (Scheme 125).²⁰⁶

Scheme 122







Ar = C₆F₅, R_f = CF₃, 92% (**375a**:**375b** = 94:6)

Mechanistically, an azomethine ylide 381a is generated, which after isomerization to 381b underwent [3+2] cycloaddition with 379 to form the product 380.

3.1.3. Cycloaddition of Nitrones

A copper-catalyzed diastereo- and enantioselective 1,3dipolar cycloaddition reaction between nitrones and alkenes has been reported by JorgensEn et al. For example, in the presence of Cu(OTf)₂-bisoxazoline **384** as a catalyst, the nitrone **382** reacted smoothly with ethyl vinyl ether at room temperature to give isoxazolidines **383a** and **383b** (Scheme 126).²⁰⁷

The reaction between nitrones and copper acetylide, leading to the formation of β -lactams, was described by Kinugasa in 1972.²⁰⁸ However the asymmetric variant has been reported only recently. Fu and Lo reported the use of C_2 -symmetric planar chiral bis(azaferrocene) ligand **386** for the copper-catalyzed enantioselective Kinugasa reaction between terminal alkynes and nitrones. β -Lactams **385** were obtained with good enantiomeric excesses favoring *cis*

diastereoselectivity (Scheme 127).²⁰⁹ This catalyst system is an advance compared to Miura's catalyst system, wherein a maximum ee of 57% was reported.²¹⁰ The mechanism of this reaction reported by Kinugasa in the original publication is shown in Scheme 128. Zhao and Li reported threecomponent reactions of *N*-substituted hydroxylamines, aldehydes, and phenylacetylene catalyzed by CuCl/bipy in the presence of NaOAc under neat conditions to give the corresponding β -lactams.²¹¹

3.1.4. Other [3+2] Reaction

Akiyama and co-workers reported copper-catalyzed enantioselective [3+2] cycloaddition reactions of 1-alkylsubstituted allenylsilanes **387** with α -imino ester **388** using [Cu(MeCN)₄]BF₄ as a copper source and (*R*)-DM-SEGPHOS **390** as a chiral ligand (Scheme 129).²¹² Silyl-substituted dehydroproline derivatives **389** were obtained in high yields and enantioselectivities. The presence of the COOEt group on the imine carbon was essential for the reaction to proceed.

Kende and Journet observed an interesting intramolecular [1,3] dipolar cycloaddition reaction of **391** in the presence of a silver catalyst, when they had intended to perform an Arndt–Eistert homologation. Novel polycyclic pyrazole derivatives **377** were obtained by this method (Table 25).²¹³ However, the reaction is very limited in terms of substrate scope. For example, geminal dimethyl substituents α to carbonyl (Thorpe–Ingold effect) were essential for the reaction to occur.

Broggini et al. reported a stereoselective intramolecular nitrile imine cycloaddition reaction of **395**, generated in situ from **393**, which gave novel heterocycles **394a** and **394b** (Scheme 130).²¹⁴ Since the chiral auxiliary is present in the starting material, chirality is transferred to the products.

3.2. [4+2] Heterocycloaddition

The [4+2] hetero-Diels-Alder reaction catalyzed by copper complexes has becoming very routine chemistry. The subject has been reviewed thoroughly.²¹⁵ Herein we show only a few examples which will give a general idea about this chemistry. An asymmetric hetero-Diels-Alder reaction between 1,3-cyclohexadiene and ethyl glyoxalate **396**, catalyzed by a chiral copper complex, gave cycloaddition product **397** with excellent selectivity (*endo:exo* = 99:1) (Scheme 131).²¹⁶ The chiral copper complex was generated by mixing an equimolar amount of Cu(OTf)₂ and (*S*,*S*)-bis(sulfoximine) **398** in dichloromethane at room temperature.

The C_2 -symmetric bis(oxazoline)-Cu(II) complexes **401a** and **401b** catalyzed the inverse electron-demand hetero-Diels-Alder reactions of heterodienes **399** with ethyl vinyl ether with high diastereo- and enantioselectivities (Table 26).²¹⁷ This represents an efficient method for the synthesis of optically pure dihydropyrans **400**.

Jnoff and Ghosez reported asymmetric Diels–Alder reactions of 2-azadienes **402** with olefinic dienophiles, catalyzed by chiral copper(II) complex **404** (Scheme 132).²¹⁸ The method provides multiply substituted piperidones **403** with high enantiomeric purities. The intramolecular version led to the formation of oxazinopiperidines (Scheme 133).²¹⁹ In a similar manner, dihydrothiopyrans were synthesized via Cu(OTf)₂-catalyzed enantioselective thia-Diels–Alder reactions (Scheme 134).²²⁰

Kobayashi et al. reported aza-Diels-Alder reactions of imines **405** with Danishefsky's diene **406** in water (Scheme

Table 24



Scheme 125



Scheme 126



Scheme 127



 $\begin{array}{l} {\sf R} = {\sf Ph}, \, {\it p}{\sf -CF}_3{\sf -C}_6{\sf H}_4, \, {\it p}{\sf -OMe{\sf -C}_6{\sf H}_4}, \, {\sf PhCH}_2, \, 1{\sf -cyclohexenyl}; \\ {\sf R}^1 = {\sf Ph}, \, {\it p}{\sf -OMe{\sf -C}_6{\sf H}_4}, \, {\it p}{\sf -Br{\sf -C}_6{\sf H}_4}, \, {\it p}{\sf -CO}_2{\sf Et{\sf -C}_6{\sf H}_4}; \, {\sf R}^2 = {\sf Ph}, \, {\it p}{\sf -CF}_3{\sf -C}_6{\sf H}_4, \, {\it p}{\sf -OMe{\sf -C}_6{\sf H}_4}, \, {\sf Cy}, \, {\sf PhCO} \end{array}$



Scheme 128



135).²²¹ The reaction took place smoothly in the presence of a catalytic amount of silver triflate to afford dihydro-4pyridones **407** in high yields. The silver triflate-catalyzed three-component reaction starting from aldehydes, amines, and Danishefsky's diene was also discribed in the same report (Scheme 136). In a recent report, Carretero and co-workers²²² have further investigated the use of chiral copper complexes





R = Me, *n*-Pr, ^{*i*}Pr, cyclohexyl, H; R¹ = Si(^{*t*}Bu)Ph₂, Si(^{*t*}Bu)Me₂, SiPh₃, Si(^{*t*}Pr)₃



Table 25^a



 $^{\it a}$ Reaction conditions: 20 mol % Ag_2CO_3/Celite as catalyst, THF, reflux, 3 h.

Scheme 130



Scheme 131



Yamamoto and Kawasaki reported a copper-catalyzed asymmetric azo-hetero-Diels-Alder reaction for the synthe-

Table 26



product	catalyst ^a	yield (%)	endo:exo	ee (%)
400a	401a	88	32:1	94
ent- 400a	401b	98	99:1	98
400b	401a	78	32:1	93
ent-400b	401b	99	99:1	96
400c	401a	96	99:1	93
ent-400c	401b	49	99:1	77

^{*a*} **401a**, [Cu(*S*,*S*)-^{*t*}Bu-box)](SbF₆)₂; **401b**, [Cu(*S*,*S*)-Ph-box)](SbF₆)₂.

Scheme 132



 $R^1 = Ph; R^2 = R^3 = Me; 80\%, exc:endo = 99:1; 95\%ee$ $R^1 = Ph; R^2 = R^3 = H; 83\%, exc:endo = 6.1:1; 98\%ee$ $R^1 = Ph; R^2 = Me, R^3 = H; 96\%, exc:endo = 99:1; 98\%ee$

Scheme 133



Scheme 134



sis of cyclic azo compounds **412** (Table 27).²²⁶ 2-Azopyridine **411** and silyloxy dienes **410** were used as coupling partners.

3.3. [2+2] Cycloaddition

Akiyama and co-workers reported enantioselective [2+2] cycloaddition reaction of 1-methoxyallenylsilanes **413** with α -imino ester **414** in the presence of the [Cu(MeCN)₄]BF₄/ (*R*)-Tol-BINAP catalyst system (Scheme 137).²²⁷ The reac-





 $R^2 = Ph, p-Br-C_6H_4, o-OMeC_6H_4$

Table 27



Scheme 137



tion afforded azetidines **415** in good yields with excellent enantiomeric excesses.

Krische and Rhee developed a novel process for the synthesis of heterocycles **417** via intramolecular [2+2] cycloaddition of keto alkynes **416** promoted by AgSbF₆ (Scheme 138).²²⁸ Five- and six-membered heterocycles **417** were easily synthesized by this procedure. A comparison to other catalysts, such as BF₃•OEt₂ and HBF₄, revealed that the AgSbF₆-catalyzed process is more efficient in certain cases. The authors proposed the intermediacy of oxete intermediate **418** which, on cycloreversion, afforded products.

Recently, we reported the silver-catalyzed [2+2] cycloaddition of imines with (benzyloxymethylene)cyclopropane **419** (Scheme 139).²²⁹ Azetidines **420** were obtained in good yields, predominantly as *cis* diastereomers. This cycloaddition reaction can also be performed without any catalysts; however, higher temperature (80 °C) is necessary. It is important to mention that the stabilization of the zwitterionic Scheme 138



Scheme 139



423a X = NCOOEt, $R^1 = Me$, $R^2 = H$, 75% **423b** X = NCOOEt, $R^1 = R^2 = H$, 65% **423c** X = NCOOEt, $R^1 = H$, $R^2 = Me$, 57% **423d** X = O, $R^1 = H$, $R^2 = Ph$, 79% (based on recovered starting material)

intermediate **421** by the cyclopropyl group adjacent to the cationic center is essential, as the enol ether that does not contain a cyclopropane ring did not react with the imines under the standard reaction conditions.

Ghosh and co-workers reported copper-catalyzed [2+2] photocycloaddition of alkenes **422** in ionic liquid such as [tmba][NTf₂] at room temperature. The process gave access to azabicyclo[3.2.0]heptanes **423a**–c and oxabicyclo[3.2.0] heptanes **423d** (Scheme 140).²³⁰ Recently, Toste et al. reported gold-catalyzed [2+2] cycloaddition of allenenes for the synthesis of enantioenriched bicyclo[3.2.0] heterocycles using chiral biarylphosphinegold(I) complexes as catalysts.²³¹

4. Cycloisomerization of Enynes/Diynes

Transition metal-catalyzed carbocyclization of alkenes and alkynes is one of the most important methods for the synthesis of heterocycles.²³² Enynes are extremely reactive substrates and undergo a variety of reactions in the presence of transition metals.²³³ The gold-catalyzed cyclization of enynes offers an attractive route for the synthesis of a variety of heterocycles (Scheme 141).²³⁴ The yields and diastereoselectivities obtained are excellent in many cases.

Recently, Kozmin and co-workers reported the goldcatalyzed cycloisomerization of 1,5-enynes, tethered with oxygen or nitrogen nucleophiles.²³⁵ This process provided diastereoselective access to oxa- and azabicyclic compounds containing bridged, fused, and spirocyclic architectures. Representative examples are shown in Scheme 142. The authors proposed a concerted mechanism for the process, and **424** was proposed as an intermediate.





Toste et al. reported gold-catalyzed synthesis of dihydropyrans **426** from propargyl vinyl ether **425** (Table 28).²³⁶ The propargylic position was tolerant of substitutions, including linear and branched substituents. Moreover, substrates derived from electron-rich alkene (entry 9) and *N*-tosylindole (entry 10) showed high selectivity for the desired pyran formation. It has also been reported that the present cycloisomerization proceeds with excellent chirality transfer from starting propargyl vinyl ethers to dihydropyrans. The silver-catalyzed annulations of propargyl vinyl ethers **427** for the synthesis of 2*H*-pyrans **428** was reported by Kirsch and Menz (Table 29).²³⁷

Patil and Yamamoto





entry	/ R ¹	R ²	yield (%) ^a
1	Ph(CH ₂) ₂ -	(CH ₂) ₄ OTs	89
2	Ph(CH ₂) ₂ -	(CH ₂) ₄ CN	88
3	Ph(CH ₂) ₂ -	c-C ₃ H ₅	92
4	Ph(CH ₂) ₂ -	<i>с</i> -С ₆ Н ₁₁	80
5	Ph(CH ₂) ₂ -	<i>t</i> -Bu	60
6	<i>i</i> -Pr	(CH ₂) ₃ Ph	90
7	Bn	<i>п</i> -Ви	95
8	TBSOCH ₂	<i>n</i> -Bu	77
9	(Me) ₂ CCH(CH ₂) ₂	<i>п</i> -Ви	92
10	Ts N	<i>n</i> -Bu	83

 a A mixture of 1–1.3:1 of anomers after purification by column chromatography.

Table 29 R ²	$\begin{array}{c} \text{Me} \\ \text{O} \\ \text{COOEt} \\ \begin{array}{c} 5 \text{ mol } \% \\ 5 \text{ mol } \% \\ \hline \text{CH}_2 \text{Cl}_2 \\ \end{array}$	AgSbF ₆ Me <u>6 DBU</u> , 23 °C R ² 428	COOEt
entry	\mathbb{R}^1	\mathbb{R}^2	yield (%)
1	Ph	Et	76
2	p - t Bu-C ₆ H ₄	Et	77
3	p-OPh-C ₆ H ₄	Et	63
4	3-thienyl	Et	90
5	(CH ₂) ₂ OTBS	Et	82
6	$CH_2(c-C_6H_{11})$	Et	75
7	Ph	Et	72
8	Ph	ⁱ Pr	60
9	Ph	CH ₂ Ph	50
10	Ph	Н	61
11	o-OMe-C ₆ H ₄	Н	59
12	3-thienyl	Н	53

A cationic gold complex-catalyzed acetylenic sila-Cope rearrangement of **429** has been developed by Toste and coworkers (Table 30).²³⁸ The process gave efficient access to silacycles **430** and vinyl silane **431**, depending on the type of nucleophiles used. For example, when methanol was used, silacycles were obtained (entries 1, 3, and 5), and when less nucleophilic phenol was used, vinyl silanes were obtained (entries 2, 4 and 6). The vinyl silanes are obtained through β -silyl fragmentation of **433**, which could be obtained via the attack of the double bond to gold-coordinated alkynes, as shown in **432**.

Gold-catalyzed intramolecular [3+2] cycloaddition of arenyne-yne functionalities for the synthesis of novel oxygenand nitrogen-containing heterocycles **435** from **434** has been reported by Liu and co-workers (Scheme 143).²³⁹ The mechanism most probably involves the activation of one of the alkynes by gold catalyst (cf. **436**) to form the vinylic carbocations **437** which, after Friedel–Crafts-type reactions followed by aromatization, afforded products.





Cossy and co-workers reported the gold-catalyzed highly diastereoselective cyclization of ene-ynamides (Table 31).²⁴⁰ For instance, the ynamides **438**, bearing a propargylic alcohol moiety, were reacted with AuCl (5 mol %) in CH₂Cl₂ to give heterocycles **439**. The primary alcohols were smoothly converted into the aldehyde, whereas the secondary alcohols led to the ketones. The pinocol-type rearrangement in carbenoid intermediate **440** was proposed as a key feature of the mechanism.

A diastereoselective cycloisomerization of enyne **441** involving Friedel–Crafts-type addition of electron-rich aromatic and heteroaromatic derivatives to unactivated alkenes was reported (Table 32).²⁴¹ A variety of oxygen- and nitrogen-containing heterocycles **442** could be synthesized by this method. Not only electron-rich arenes but also water and alcohols work well as nucleophiles for the reaction.²⁴² Echavarren et al. reported gold(I)-catalyzed addition of electron-rich arenes and heteroarenes to 1,6-enynes.²⁴³

The other example where bicyclic heterocycle **444** could be obtained from enyne **443** involved the Prins cyclization of alkenylgold intermediates (Scheme 144).²⁴⁴ The mechanism of this reaction is shown in Scheme 145. The first step is the formation of cyclopropyl metal carbene **445**, which undergoes ring expansion to form **446**. The alkenylgold complex **446** reacts with the oxonium cation to form **447**, which upon demetalation forms tricycles **444a**. The nonconcerted reaction occurs via cyclopropyl-stabilized cation **445**, which undergoes a nonstereospecific ring expansion to give mixtures of **448** and **446**. The intermediate **449**, on demetalation, forms **444b**. An interesting extension has recently been outlined in which the putative gold carbenoid Table 31



 a A solution of compound in CH₂Cl₂ was treated with 5 mol % AuCl at rt. b After treatment with NaBH₄ in methanol.



Table 32



is trapped by the olefins (Scheme 146).²⁴⁵ The same group also reported cycloisomerization of 1,7-enynes.²⁴⁶ The cycloisomerization of 1,6-enynes involving Prins-type reaction was reported by Helmchen et al.²⁴⁷

Gold(I)-catalyzed cyclization of enynes **450** containing an olefinic cycle, for the synthesis of highly fused bicyclic heterocycles **451**, has been described by Chung and coworkers (Scheme 147).²⁴⁸ The introduction of an olefinic ring instead of a terminal alkene in enynes dramatically increased the yield of the reaction. It should be noted that





Scheme 146



Scheme 147



the reaction proceeds at room temperature, in contrast to the reactions catalyzed by Pt(II), which require heating at 80 °C.

Toste and co-workers reported gold(I)-catalyzed oxidative rearrangement reactions of 452a-d using sulfoxides as stoichiometric oxidants (Scheme 148).²⁴⁹ The heterocycles 453a-c were obtained in good yields. The reactions are postulated to proceed through intermolecular oxygen atom transfer from the sulfoxide to gold(I)-carbenoid intermediates such as 454 and 455.

Scheme 148



NaAuCl₄.2H₂O or CuCl₂.2H₂O EtOH, 100-140 °C R^2 O H₂N 15-96% 456 457 458 Θ MLr MLn 'R² 460 459 н Scheme 150 5 mol % AuCl₃ 3 mol % AgOTf DCE. 50-70 °C 44-99% R^1 R^1 461 462

Abbiati et al. reported a general and one-pot synthesis of pyridines **458** from the reaction of acyclic/cyclic carbonyl compounds **456** with propargylamine (Scheme 149).²⁵⁰ Gold and copper salts are found to be efficient catalysts. The mechanism involves the formation of enyne **459** via metal salt-catalyzed condensation between **456** and propargylamine, followed by imine–enamine isomerization. Cycloisomerization of enyne **459** produces organometallic intermediate **460** which, on protonolysis and subsquent dehydrogenation, gives pyridine derivatives **458**.

5. Intramolecular Friedel—Crafts-Type Reactions

Shi and He described an efficient method for the preparation of coumarins from aryl alkynoates (Scheme 150).²⁵¹ The substrates **461**, on treatment with gold catalyst (AuCl₃/ AgOTf) in dichloroethane at an appropriate temperature, gave the corresponding isocoumarins **462** in excellent to fair yields. The silver salt was proposed to have a role in the generation of more electrophilic gold species from AuCl₃. The authors proposed that metalation of arene is the key step,

Scheme 151



which leads to attacks on the electron-deficient alkynes, giving the products.

The cyclization of *N*-propargyl *N*-tosylanilines **463** is also catalyzed by the cationic complex produced from $[Au(PPh_3)Me]$ and HBF₄ (Scheme 151).²⁵² This intramolecular reaction gave 1,2-dihydroquinolines **464** and proceeded under milder conditions and with better yields than the cyclization catalyzed by Pt(II).

Echavarren recently reported a novel gold-catalyzed cyclization of the substrates of type **464** (Scheme 152).²⁵³ When gold(I) was used as a catalyst, azepino[4,5-*b*]indole derivatives **465** were obtained, whereas the use of Au(III) catalysts led to indoloazocines **466** by an 8-*endo-dig* process. This type of regiochemical control by the oxidation state of the metal catalyst is noteworthy.

Gold complexes have also been used as a catalyst for the Pictet–Spengler reaction. A variety of tetrahydroisoquinolines **468a** and tetrahydro- β -carbolines **468b** were obtained in good yields from imines **467a** and **467b** under the catalysis of a AuCl₃–AgOTf combined catalyst system (Scheme 153).²⁵⁴ To enhance the reactivity of imines, an acylating agent AcCl was used; the absence of acylating agent resulted in a low yield of the products. It was proposed that the reaction followed an electrophilic pathway involving imine activation by coordinating gold(III) complex. Scheme 154



6. Reactions of α -Diazocarbonyl Compounds

Correia and Burtoloso reported the synthesis of cissubstituted azetidines 470 by copper carbenoid insertion of α, α' -dialkyl- α -diazoketones **469** (Scheme 154). 255 The catalytic asymmetric C-H insertion using chiral ligands was reported by Sulikowski (Scheme 155).²⁵⁶ The catalyst was generated in situ by mixing bis(oxazoline) ligand and copper(I) triflate in chloroform. Addition of a chloroform solution of diazo ester 471 to a mixture of Cu(I)-474a afforded 472 and 473 in a 3:1 ratio, with a combined yield of 90-94%. The anti isomers 472 were produced as a 1.7:1 mixture, while the corresponding syn diastereomers 473 were generated as a 1.3:1 mixture. In a similar fashion, the antipodal set of isomers (ent-472 and ent-473) were generated from reaction using Cu(I) and 474b catalyst system. In this instance, a 3:1 ratio of ent-472 and ent-473 was produced as a 1:3 (ent-472a and ent-472b) and 10:1 (ent-473a and ent-473b) mixture of epimeric esters, respectively.

The generation and rearrangement of cyclic ylides from diazocarbonyl precursors has evoled as an important strategy for the synthesis of heterocycles. Copper-based catalysts are often used because of their relatively low cost, permitting their use in larger quantities, if necessary. West and co-workers reported the cyclization of amino diazoketone **475** to piperidine **476** in the presence of Cu(acac)₂ in refluxing toluene (Scheme 156).²⁵⁷ Optically active morpholin-2-ones **478** could also be synthesized from **477** by a similar process (Scheme 157).²⁵⁸ They also used this approach for the synthesis of polycyclic ether **480** from the corresponding α -diazoketone **479** in the presence of copper(II) trifluoroacetylacetone in refluxing dichloromethane (Scheme 158).²⁵⁹

Clark and Hodgson reported enantioselective synthesis of the CE ring system of the alkaloids Manzamine A, E, and F and Ircinal A, using copper carbenoid chemistry as a key step. The key step in the synthesis of these natural products is the treatment of **481** with $Cu(acac)_2$ in benzene at reflux, to afford the fused bicyclic product 482. The reaction was assumed to proceed via [2,3]-sigmatropic rearrangement of the spiro-fused bicyclic ammonium ylide intermediate 483, resulting in three-carbon ring expansion of the pyrrolidine (Scheme 159).²⁶⁰ McMills and co-workers used a similar approach to azacyclooctene and azacyclononene via the intermediacy of a spirocyclic ammonium ylide (Scheme 160). Copper-catalyzed decomposition of 484, in which an α -diazoester moiety is tethered to the nitrogen atom of 2-vinylpyrrolidine, gave azacyclooctene 485, along with a minor amount of product 486.²⁶¹ The transition states are shown in Scheme 161.

Chiral copper complexes have also been employed as catalysts for carbenoid generation in order to prepare substituted heterocycles enantioselectively from achiral α -diazo ketones. For example, Clark et al. studied the copper complexes having a wide variety of diimine ligands for the



a Si-O link was reported Mass and co-workers. The reaction of 490 with CuOTf provided oxa-silaheterocycles 491 in moderate yields (Scheme 163).²⁶³

492 and tetrahydropyridines 493 under copper catalysis gave substituted prolines 494 via intermediates 495. The nature of the α -substituent in the diazo compound exerts a dramatic

Scheme 163





Scheme 165



effect upon the yields of the reaction. In general, electronwithdrawing substituents enhance the rate of reaction.

7. Aziridination of Olefins

Aziridines are useful substrates in organic chemistry due to their versatility as intermediates for the preparation of a number of nitrogen-containing products. The discovery of hypervalent iodinane reagents for nitrene transfer to alkenes by means of transition metal complexes has led to the development of efficient catalytic processes, including asymmetric versions. Copper-catalyzed aziridination of olefins is one of the best ways to prepare aziridines (Scheme 165). Several reports on their synthesis using copper-catalyzed processes have appeared in the literature,²⁶⁵ and recent research revealed that these small ring compounds could be prepared in good to excellent enantioselectivities.²⁶⁶ The use of disilver(I) compound for olefin aziridination has been realized only recently.²⁶⁷ In general, PhI=N-SO₂R and RSO₂NH₂ are used as nitrogen-transferring agents. However, there are few reports on the identical transformation involving epoxidation of olefins which led to epoxides in the presence of oxygen-transferring agents.²⁶⁸

Dodd and co-workers reported the intramolecular aziridination of olefins.²⁶⁹ Olefinic primary sulfonamides **496** were treated first with iodobenzene diacetate and potassium hydroxide in methanol to give intermediate iminoiodinanes **497**. The copper(I) salt then allows intramolecular nitrene delivery, leading to aziridines **498** (Scheme 166). Fleming et al.²⁷⁰ and Lebel et al.,²⁷¹ in their independent papers, reported copper-catalyzed intramolecular nitrene addition to alkenes. Enantioselective intramolecular copper-catalyzed aziridination of sulfamates is also known.²⁷² Gold complexes can also be used as catalysts for this purpose.²⁷³

8. N/O-Vinylation/Arylation

The copper-mediated *N*-vinylation/arylation reaction is an important transformation and has been used for the synthesis of a variety of heterocycles.²⁷⁴ Lautens and co-workers

Scheme 166



Scheme 167



Scheme 168



Scheme 169



Scheme 170



described the application of copper-catalyzed intramolecular amidation for the synthesis of imidazoindolones (Scheme 167).²⁷⁵ The gem-dibromovinyl compounds **499**, on treatment with CuI-diamine catalyst in the presence of K₂CO₃ in refluxing toluene, afforded imidazoindolones 500 in good yields. In most cases, significant amounts of chirality transferred from the starting materials to the products. In another report, Fu and co-workers reported the preparation of medium and large nitrogen heterocycles via coppercatalyzed intramolecular *N*-arylation of phosphoramidates and carbamates (Scheme 168).²⁷⁶ Using a similar approach, Cuny et al. reported the synthesis of 1,4-benzodiazepine-2,5-diones (Scheme 169).²⁷⁷ An intramolecular coppercatalyzed vinylation of iodoenamides was reported by Li and Hu (Scheme 170).²⁷⁸ With CuI as the catalyst and N,N'dimethylethylenediamine as the ligand, several five- to sevenmembered lactams were obtained in good yields.



Scheme 172





A simple method for the preparation of medium-ring heterocycles **502** has been developed by Buchwald and coworkers (Scheme 171).²⁷⁹ The process involves a coppercatalyzed coupling of β -lactams with aryl halides **501**, followed by intramolecular attack of a tethered amino group, as shown in intermediate **503**.

Reactions of 2-chloro-3-cyanopyridine **504** with excess hydrazines in the presence of $5-10 \mod \%$ Cul/*o*-phenan-throline and cesium carbonate in DMF afforded 1-substituted-3-aminopyrazolo[3,4-*b*]pyridines **505** in moderate yields (Scheme 172).²⁸⁰ The reaction proceeded via intermediate **506**.

Copper-mediated intramolecular *O*-arylation and *C*-arylation gave access to benzo-fused heterocycles. Reaction of **507a** with sodium hydride in DMF at 100 °C in the presence of copper(I) iodide gave **508** (Scheme 173).²⁸¹ The formation of **508** can be explained by the intramolecular *O*-arylation of the copper metalated amide intermediates **509a,b**. However, in case of **507b**, which does not contain a NH proton, the reaction under similar conditions led to oxindole **510** (Scheme 174). A similar approach was used by Batey and co-workers for the synthesis of benzoxazoles and benzothiazoles (Scheme 175).²⁸² A domino copper-catalyzed C–N and C–O cross-coupling process for the synthesis of oxazoles was reported by Schuh and Glorius.²⁸³ Thasana et al. reported intramolecular copper-mediated and microwave-assisted carboxylic acid arylation for the synthesis of benzoyyranones and isolamellarin alkaloids.²⁸⁴

Scheme 174



Scheme 175



Scheme 176





Recently, Ma and Lu reported a new approach to 3-acyloxyindoles 512 via CuI/L-proline-catalyzed intramolecular arylation of β -keto esters **511** (Scheme 176).²⁸⁵ It should be noted that electronic effects on the aromatic ring have little influence on the efficiency of this reaction, and generally good yields were obtained in all cases. They reported the copper-catalyzed synthesis of benzimidazoles via a tandem aryl amination/condensation sequence (Scheme 177).²⁸⁶ At the same time, a similar process was reported by Buchwald and co-workers.²⁸⁷ Ma's research group developed a new route for the synthesis of benzofurans from 1-bromo-2iodobenzenes with β -keto esters.²⁸⁸ The synthesis of benzofurans under Cu-TMEDA catalysis using water as solvent was reported.²⁸⁹ The copper-catalyzed synthesis of 2,3disubstituted indoles from 2-iodoaniline and various β -keto esters was described by Tanimori et al.²⁹⁰ Such a coppercatalyzed cross-coupling tool was applied for the synthesis of benzoselenazoles and benzotellurazoles.²⁹¹

A domino process involving copper-catalyzed C–N coupling and intramolecular hydroamidation for the synthesis of pyrroles **514** from haloenynes **513** (via intermediate **515**) was described by Buchwald and co-workers (Table 33).²⁹² The reaction of a substrate bearing a terminal alkyne did not give the product; however, this transformation can be accomplished by the use of a TMS group, which masks the terminal acetylene and is deprotected in situ. They also reported synthesis of pyrazoles **517** from iodoenynes **576** through the intermediacy of **518** (Table 34). Lu and co-workers reported synthesis of pyrroles via copper-catalyzed coupling of amines with bromoenones.²⁹³

Li et al. reported the copper-catalyzed intramolecular coupling of aryl bromides with 1,3-dicarbonyls (Table 35).²⁹⁴ With CuI (10 mol %) as the catalyst, *N*,*N*-dimethylethylenediamine as the ligand, and Cs₂CO₃ as the base, the reactions of α -(2-bromobenzyl)- β -keto esters **519** in THF at refluxing temperature afforded the corresponding substituted 4*H*-1-benzopyrans **520** in high yields via *O*-arylation.

Table 33



entry	product	х	yield (%) ^{a,b}
1 ^a	Prn Boc	Ι	74
2	Boc N nPr	I	84
3ª	MeOOC	Br	82
4 ^b	nPr H nPr	I	68
5	Boc N Ph	I	52
6		I	95
7 ^a	S N nBu	Br	83
8 ^a	S S S S	Br	74
9	N Boc N	I	71

 a Reaction conditions: K₂CO₃ (2.0 equiv) and toluene (0.5 M) at 110 °C. b R₃ = TMS.

The copper-catalyzed synthesis of 2-alkylideneazetidines **522** from *N*-tosyl-3-halo-3-butenylamines **521** was also reported by the same research group (Table 36).²⁹⁵ They extended this methodology for the synthesis of 2-alkylideneoxetanes.²⁹⁶

9. Radical Cyclization of Haloalkenes and Haloalkynes

Formation of heterocycles using a radical cyclization reaction has attracted significant attention from synthetic Table 34



chemists for many years.²⁹⁷ Tributyltin hydride was often used for this purpose. Owing to the high toxicity of Bu₃SnH, an alternate method which involves the use of copper(I) complexes is becoming popular. These reactions are commonly referred as atom-transfer radical cyclization (ATRC). In these processes, abstraction of a halogen atom by, for example, CuCl is followed by radical cyclization (Scheme 178). The resulting cyclic carbon-centered radical can then abstract a halogen atom from the CuCl₂ to form the cyclic organohalide and CuCl, which continues the chain reaction. Numerous reports have appeared on the application of this chemistry for the synthesis of heterocycles. Only a few examples are described herein.

The ATRC reaction represents a powerful tool for the synthesis of halogenated lactams.²⁹⁸ For example, the cyclization of *N*-allylhalodifluoroacetamides **523** afforded α, α -difluoro- γ -lactams **524** under copper catalysis (Scheme 179).²⁹⁹ The actual catalyst is CuX(bipy), which is generated in situ by mixing equimolar amounts of CuX and bipyridine.

The copper-catalyzed cyclization of trichloroacetamides tethered with alkenes also gave lactams by the ATRC reaction.³⁰⁰ The cyclization of trichloroacetamides **525** into the corresponding octahydroindol-2-ones **526** was achieved using a CuCl-bipyridine catalyst system (Scheme 180).³⁰¹ The presence of alkoxycarbonyl groups such as Cbz and COOMe was essential for the reaction to proceed. It was reported that not only five-membered rings but also larger rings can be obtained through this strategy in the presence of multidentate amine **527** (Scheme 181).³⁰²

There are very few reports on the application of this strategy for the cyclization of alkynes. This is probably due

Table 35



^{*a*} Reaction conditions: 10 mol % CuI, 20 mol % DMEDA, Cs₂CO₃, THF, reflux. ^{*b*} The reaction was run in 1,4-dioxane at refluxing temperature.

to the fact that terminal alkynes undergo facile oxidative dimerization and intermolecular coupling reaction at the terminal carbon when subjected to copper halide/pyridine complexes. Clark et al. reported that the amine **530**-derived copper(I) halide mediated the ATRC reaction of 1-halo-*N*-propargylacetamides **528**, giving the cyclic lactams **529** in moderate yields (Scheme 182).³⁰³

10. Miscellaneous Reactions

Copper bisphosphine complexes catalyzed the intramolecular reductive aldol reaction of **531**, in which α , β unsaturated esters and ketones are in the same molecule, affording five- and six-membered β -hydroxylactones **532** with high stereoselectivity (Scheme 183).³⁰⁴ The asymmetric version of the reaction was reported in the same paper, and ee up to 83% was achieved.

Doring et al. reported a new route to 1,2,4-triazoles **534** by oxidative intramolecular cyclization of heterocyclic hydrazones **523**, mediated by CuCl₂ (Scheme 184).³⁰⁵ By using this simple transformation, 1,2,4-triazolo[4,3-*a*]pyridines, -pyrimidines, -pyradazines, -phthalazines, and -quinoxalines were synthesized. The cyclization of α -aminohydrazone **535** into imidazole **536** was reported by Arcadi and co-workers (Scheme 185).³⁰⁶

Table 36

entry	substrate (521)	Cul (mol %)	temp/tim (°C/h) ^{a,l}	ne product yi ^b (522) yi	eld (%)
1	CI NHTs	20	100/2	Ph	99
2	Br NHTs	10	68/1	Ph	99
3	CI NHTs	20	100/2	Pr	99
4	Br NHTs	10	68/1	Pr	99
5	Br NHTs	10	68/1		99
6	I NHTs	10	40/2	NTs	94
7	CI NHTs	20	100/5	Me	99
8	CI NHTs Me Me	20	100/3	Me Me	99
9 .	Br NHTs	20	68/6	NTs	99
10	Br NHTs C ₅ H ₁₁	20	68/3	C ₅ H ₁₁ NTs	86
¹¹ C ₅	Br NH	Ts 20	68/12	C ₅ H ₁₁	89

^{*a*} Reaction conditions: substrate, CuI, DMEDA, Cs_2CO_3 solvent, reflux. ^{*b*} 100 and 68 °C refer to the refuxing temperatures of 1,4-dioxane and THF, respectively.

Scheme 178





Wang and co-workers developed a new protocol for synthesis of aminobenzimidazoles. *N*-(2-Aminoaryl)thioureas **537** underwent a CuCl-promoted intramolecular cyclization to give the corresponding 2-(*N*-substituted amino)benzimi-



Scheme 181



Scheme 182



Scheme 183



Scheme 184



Scheme 185



Scheme 186



dazoles **538** in good yields (Scheme 186).³⁰⁷ This reaction is a key step in the synthesis of LFA-1 inhibitors.³⁰⁸ Terada

Scheme 187





and co-workers synthesized chiral guanidines for asymmetric transformation using a similar methodology.³⁰⁹

Lee et al. reported the synthesis of 1,3-oxazolidines **539** by copper-catalyzed addition of acetone and ethyl diazoacetate to imines (Scheme 187).³¹⁰ Cu(OTf)₂ or copper(I) tetrafluoroborate, generated in situ from CuI/AgBF₄, was used as catalyst.

Erdelmeier et al. reported the synthesis of hitherto unknown selenium-containing heterocycles by copper(I)-assisted incorporation of selenium. Benzisoselenazoline **541a** and benzisoselenazine **541b** were synthesized from bromoamines **540a** and **540b** (Scheme 188).³¹¹ An equimolar quantity of CuI and the presence of Et_3N as a base are necessary.

A silver-catalyzed reaction of alkynes **542** and anilines **543** gave 1,2-dihydroquinolines **544** under solvent-free conditions (Scheme 189).³¹² An attractive feature of the process is that a series of reactions, such as hydroamination (cf. **545**), alkyne addition (cf. **546**), intramolecular hydroarylation, and hydroarylation of a third molecule of alkynes (cf. **547**), could be accomplished in one pot. Recently, Che and co-workers reported the synthesis of 1,2-dihydroquinolines and quinolines from aromatic amines and terminal alkynes by gold-catalyzed tandem hydroamination—hydroarylation under microwave conditions.³¹³

Silver-catalyzed silylene transfer from **549** to alkynes **548** for the formation of substituted silacyclopropenes **550** was described by Woerpel and Clark (Scheme 190).³¹⁴ Terminal alkynes which are normally difficult substrates for silylene transfer provided high yields under this condition. The same authors then developed one-pot silacyclopropenation/carbonyl insertions of terminal and internal alkynes. For instance, the reaction of phenylacetylene with benzaldehyde gave oxasilacyclopentene **551** in the presence of bimetallic catalyst 10 mol % Ag₃PO₄ and 15 mol % CuBr₂ (Scheme 191). Pioneering work from Woerpel's laboratory revealed that siver-catalyzed silylene transfer to imines for the formation of silaaziridines is possible.³¹⁵

The synthesis of 1,2,4-triazoles **553** via Ag_2CO_3 -mediated cyclization of triazenes **552** was described by Paulvannan et al. (Scheme 192).³¹⁶ They proposed that the oxidizing property of Ag_2CO_3 proved important for the reaction as it proceeded through azoimine formation, tautomerization, cyclization, and oxidation. This approach is flexible and compatible with a wide range of functional groups.

The reaction of *O*,*S*-acetal **554** in the presence of 2 equiv of AgOTf gave the ring-closing product in 76% yield with a 1.7:1 ratio of **555a** and **555b** (Scheme 193).³¹⁷ On the other hand, another diastereomer, **556**, on reaction under the same conditions, gave an 8.5:1 ratio of **555a** and **555b**. The





Scheme 191

$$Ph = + \underbrace{Ph}_{H} \underbrace{\begin{array}{c} 549, 10 \text{ mol } \% \text{ Ag}_{3}\text{PO}_{4} \\ H \\ 15 \text{ mol } \% \text{ CuBr}_{2}, 79\% \end{array}}_{15 \text{ mol } \% \text{ CuBr}_{2}, 79\%} \underbrace{\begin{array}{c} Bu \\ t_{Bu} \\ t_{Bu} \\ 551 \end{array}}_{551} Ph$$

Scheme 192



 $\label{eq:R1} \begin{array}{l} \mathsf{R}^1=\mathsf{H},\,\mathsf{OMe},\,\mathsf{NO}_2;\,\mathsf{R}^2=\mathsf{Ph},\,\mathsf{Bn},\,\mathsf{Ph}_2\mathsf{CH},\,\mathsf{Me}_2\mathsf{CH},\,\mathsf{CH}_2{=}\mathsf{CH},\\ \text{3-Pyr},\,\text{1-Mor-CH}_2,\,\mathsf{MeO}_2\mathsf{C}(\mathsf{CH}_2)_2 \end{array}$

Scheme 193



observed dependence of cyclization stereochemistry on the configuration of the anomeric substituent suggests that **554** and **556** undergo ring closure via different mechanisms.

Six- and seven-membered cyclic ethers were stereoselectively synthesized on the basis of the rearrangement of cyclic ethers with simultaneous ring expansion (Scheme 194).³¹⁸ For example, treatment of five- and six-membered cyclic ethers **557a** and **557b** with AgOAc/AcOH-H₂O under reflux Scheme 194



Table 37



conditions gave six- and seven-membered cyclic ethers **558a** and **558b**, respectively. This type of ring expansion from pyrrolidine to piperidine is also known.³¹⁹

Kimpe and co-workers found that 1-methoxycyclopropylamines underwent ring enlargement in a regiospecific way via *N*-chlorination and subsequent rearrangement in the presence of halophilic silver salt (Table 37).³²⁰ 2,2-Disubstituted 1-methoxycyclopropylamines **559** reacted with *tert*butyl hypochlorite in dichloromethane at 0 °C to give the corresponding *N*-chlorocyclopropylamines **560** in situ, which underwent ring expansion into β -lactams **563** (cf. **561** and **562**) by reaction with silver tetrafluoroborate in CH₂Cl₂ at ambient temperature in 3 h. All β -lactams **563** were obtained 567

Scheme 195





566



EtOH, 93%

568

in good to excellent yields, except in the case of **563c** and **563e**. The mechanism of this reaction was later investigated theoretically by means of the B3LYP method and the PCM solvation model.³²¹ The results indicated that these reactions proceed via facile two-step processes involving a nitrenium intermediate having a short life. A few interesting cascade cyclizations for the synthesis of natural products employing the halophilicity of silver salts are reported in the literature.³²²

Cui and He reported an efficient amidation reaction of saturated C–H bonds catalyzed by a silver(I) complex. The reactions of acyclic carbamates **564a** and sulfamates **564b** were conducted in acetonitrile, in the presence of AgNO₃, ^{*I*}Bu₃tpy, and PhI(OAc)₂ at 82 °C, to afford cyclic carbamates **565a** and sulfamates **565b** in good yields (Scheme 195).³²³ The active catalyst is $[Ag_2(^{I}Bu_3tpy)_2(NO_3)](NO_3)$, which is generated in situ. Different types of ligands were tested, and the products were obtained in high yields only when ^{*I*}Bu₃tpy was used.

Arcadi and co-workers reported a new approach to Friedlander synthesis of quinolines using Au catalyst (Scheme 196).³²⁴ Polysubstituted quinoline **568** was readily prepared by this sequential condensation/annulation reaction from *o*-benzyloxyaniline **566** and β -keto ester **567** in the presence of NaAuCl₄. The same group also reported the synthesis of pyrrole derivatives via gold-catalyzed amination/annulation reactions of 2-propynyl-1,3-dicarbonyl compounds.³²⁵

Sudalai et al. reported Cu(OTf)₂-catalyzed Biginelli's three-component cyclocondensation between aldehydes, ethyl acetoacetate, and urea. The reaction produces 3,4-dihydro-pyrimidin-2(1*H*)-ones **569** in good yields (Scheme 197).³²⁶ They reported that the catalyst can be reused with negligible loss of activity.

Wang and co-workers have developed a versatile synthesis of substituted iminocoumarin derivatives **571** via a coppercatalyzed multicomponent reaction of sulfonyl azides, terminal alkynes, and salicylaldehyde **570** (Table 38).³²⁷ In the presence of TEA and CuI, sulfonyl azide reacts with alkyne to form the highly reactive ketenimine **572**, which is trapped by **570** to generate the anionic intermediate **573**. An intramolecular Aldol-type reaction of **573** gave iminocou-





Scheme 198



marins **571**. Later, the synthesis of a novel class of heterocycles via reaction of sulfonyl azides with alkynes and aziridines was described.³²⁸ Fu and co-workers reported the synthesis of medium and large heterocycles by a similar process.³²⁹ The use of this chemistry for the synthesis of substituted azitidine derivatives was reported by Xu and co-workers.³³⁰

Gold-catalyzed one-pot synthesis of highly functionalized polycyclic frameworks was reported by Liu and co-workers (Scheme 198).³³¹ For example, the reaction of 2,4-dien-1-al **574** with 3-methyl-2-buten-1-ol **575** in the presence of gold catalyst gave the oxacycle **576** in 68% yield.

Li and Skouta reported gold-catalyzed annulation of salicylaldehydes and aryl acetylenes for the synthesis of isoflavanones **577** (Scheme 199).³³² The mechanism involves the C–H activation of the aldehyde (cf. **578**), followed by hydroauration of alkyne to form intermediate **579**. Subsequent conjugation of the hydroxyl group to the α , β -unsaturated ketone in **579** leads to the formation of isoflavanones **577** through intermediate **580**. This approach was extended for the synthesis of azaisoflavanone starting from 2-tosylaminobenzaldehydes and alkynes.³³³

11. Conclusion

This review has shown that the application of coinage metals as catalysts for the synthesis of heterocycles is an active area of research. It is also emphasized that, in addition



to the conventional copper and silver catalysts, gold complexes are also becoming a powerful tool for the synthesis of heterocycles. The most important aspect of gold catalysis lies in its efficiency, since the reaction can be performed often at lower catalyst loading and at ambient temperature. Moreover, the reaction proceeds under relatively mild conditions and tolerates a wide variety of functional groups. This review has described a salient feature of the development of coinage metal catalysis in heterocyclic synthesis. We think that, with this continued investigation, many more new approaches for heterocyclic synthesis will be discovered.

12. Abbreviations

aq.	aqueous
bipy	2,2'-bipyridine
"Bu	<i>n</i> -butyl
'Bu	<i>tert</i> -butyl
'Bu ₃ tpy	4,4',4"-tri- <i>tert</i> -butyl-2,2':6',2"-terpyridine
Bn	benzyl
cat.	catalytic
DCE	1,2-dichloroethane
DIEA	diisopropylethylamine
DMA	N,N-dimethylacetamide
DMAP	4-(dimethylamino)pyridine
DMB	2,4-dimethoxybenzyl
DME	1,2-dimethoxyethane
DMEDA	<i>N</i> , <i>N</i> '-dimethylethylenediamine
DMF	<i>N</i> , <i>N</i> -dimethylformamide
DTBMP	2,6-di-tert-butyl-4-methylpyridine
equiv	equivalent
IMes	1,3-dimesitylimidazol-2-ylidene
Me	methyl
min	minute
MPM	(p-methoxyphenyl)methyl
MS	molecular sieves
MW	microwave
Np	naphthyl
Ph	phenyl
Phen	phenanthroline
rt	room temperature
TBAC	tetra-n-butylammonium chloride
TBAF	tetra-n-butylammonium fluoride
TBAI	tetra-n-butylammonium iodide
TBS	tert-butyldimethylsilyl
Tf	trifluoromethanesulfonyl
TFA	trifluoroacetate
TFP	tri-2-furylphosphine
THF	tetrahydrofuran
TMDS	1,1,3,3-tetramethylhydrosiloxane
TMSE	2-(trimethylsilyl)ethyl

- (1) Nakamura, I.; Yamamoto, Y. Chem. Rev. 2004, 104, 2127.
- (2) Reviews: (a) McReynolds, M. D.; Dougherty, J. M.; Hanson, P. R. Chem. Rev. 2004, 104, 2239. (b) Alonso, F.; Beletskaya, I. P.; Yus, M. Chem. Rev. 2004, 104, 3079. (c) Deiters, A.; Martin, S. F. Chem. Rev. 2004, 104, 2199. (d) Zeni, G.; Larock, R. C. Chem. Rev. 2004, 104, 2285. (e) Yet, L. Chem. Rev. 2000, 100, 2963. (f) Tsuji, J. Transition Metal Reagents and Catalysts; John Wiley & Sons Ltd.: New York, 2000. (g) Transition Metals for Organic Synthesis; Beller, M., Bolm, C., Eds.; Wiley-VCH Verlag GmbH: Weinheim, 1998. (h) Transition Metal Catalyzed Reactions; Murahashi, S., Davies, S. G., Eds.; Blackwell Science: Oxford, 1999.
- (3) For general reviews on coinage metal catalysis, see: (a) Widenhoefer, R. A.; Han, X. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2006, 4555. (b) Furstner, A.; Davies, P. W. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2007, 46, 3410. (c) Jimencz-Nunez, E.; Echavarren, A. M. Chem. Commun. 2007, 333. (d) Marion, N.; Nolan, S. P. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2007, 46, 2750. (e) Marco-Contelles, J.; Soriano, E. Chem. Eur. J. 2007, 13, 1350–1357. (f) Hashmi, A. S. K. Chem. Rev. 2007, 107, 3180. (g) Patil, N. T.; Yamamoto, Y. Arkivoc 2007, 10, 121. (h) Patil, N. T.; Yamamoto, Y. Arkivoc 2007, 5, 6 Yamamoto, Y. (i) Ley, S. V.; Thomas, A. W. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2003, 42, 5400. (j) Gorin, D. J.; Toste, F. D. Nature 2007, 446, 395.
- (4) Kamijo, S.; Yamamoto Y. In *Multimetallic Catalysis in Organic Synthesis*; Shibasaki, M., Yamamoto, Y., Eds.; Wiley-VCH: Weinheim, 2004; Chapter 1.
- (5) (a) Marshall, J. Å.; Wang, X.-j. J. Org. Chem. 1991, 56, 960. (b) Marshall, J. A.; Bartley, G. S. J. Org. Chem. 1994, 59, 7169, and references cited therein.
- (6) Hashmi, A. S. K.; Schwarz, L.; Choi, J.-H.; Frost, T. M. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2000, 39, 2285.
- (7) Zhou, C.-Y.; Chan, P. W. H.; Che, C.-M. Org. Lett. 2006, 8, 325.
 (8) Sromek, A. W.; Rubina, M.; Gevorgyan, V. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2005, 127, 10500. Also see: Schwier, T.; Sromek, A. W.; Yap, D. M. L.; Chernyak, D.; Gevorgyan, V. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2007, 129, 9868.
- (9) Nedolya, N. A.; Schlyakhtina, N. I.; Zinoveva, V. P.; Albanov, A. I.; Brandsma, L. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **2002**, *43*, 1569. For a review on nucleophilic transition metal-based cyclization of allenes, see: Bates, R. W.; Satcharoen, V. *Chem. Soc. Rev.* **2002**, *31*, 12.
- (10) Kelin, A. V.; Gevorgyan, V. J. Org. Chem. 2002, 67, 95.
- (11) Kim, J. T.; Kelin, A. V.; Gevorgyan, V. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2003, 42, 98.
- (12) Kelin, A. V.; Sromek, A. W.; Gevorgyan, V. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2001, 123, 2074.
- (13) Kim, J. T.; Gevorgyan, V. Org. Lett. 2002, 4, 4697. Also see: Seregin,
 I. V.; Schammel, A. W.; Gevorgyan, V. Org. Lett. 2007, 9, 3433.
- (14) Yan, B.; Liu, Y. Org. Lett. 2007, 9, 4323.
- (15) Yan, B.; Zhou, Y.; Zhang, H.; Chen, J.; Liu, Y. J. Org. Chem. 2007, 72, 7783.
- (16) Binder, J. T.; Kirsch, S. F. Org. Lett. 2006, 8, 2151.
- (17) Seregin, I. V.; Gevorgyan, V. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2006, 128, 12050.
 (18) Harrison, T. J.; Kozak, J. A.; Corbella-Pane, M.; Dake, G. R. J. Org. Chem. 2006, 71, 4525.
- (19) Sromek, A. W.; Kelin, A. V.; Gevorgyan, V. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2004, 43, 2280.
- (20) (a) Hashmi, A. S. K.; Frost, T. M.; Bats, J. W. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2000, 122, 11553. (b) Hashmi, A. S. K.; Ding, L.; Bats, J. W.; Fischer, P.; Frey, W. Chem. Eur. J. 2003, 9, 4339. (c) Hashmi, A. S. K.; Haufe, P.; Schmid, C.; Nass, A. R.; Frey, W. Chem. Eur. J. 2006, 12, 5376. (d) Hashmi, A. S. K.; Salathe, R.; Frey, W. Chem. Eur. J. 2006, 12, 6991. (e) Hashmi, A. S. K.; Weyrauch, J. P.; Kurpejovic, E.; Frost, T. M.; Miehlich, B.; Frey, W.; Bats, J. W. Chem. Eur. J. 2006, 12, 5806.
- (21) Hashmi, A. S. K.; Frost, T. M.; Bats, J. W. Org. Lett. 2001, 3, 3769.
- (22) Suhre, M. H.; Reif, M.; Kirsch, S. F. Org. Lett. 2005, 7, 3925.
- (23) Hashmi, A. S. K.; Sinha, P. Adv. Synth. Catal. 2004, 346, 432.
- (24) (a) Aucagne, V.; Amblard, F.; Agrofoglio, L. A. *Synlett* 2004, 2406.
 A similar reaction is catalyzed by copper, see: (b) Robins, M. J.; Barr, P. J. *J. Org. Chem.* 1983, 48, 1854. (c) Robins, M. J.; Barr, P. J. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 1981, 22, 421.
- (25) Yao, T.; Zhang, X.; Larock, R. C. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2004, 126, 11164.
- (26) Patil, N. T.; Wu, H.; Yamamoto, Y. J. Org. Chem. 2005, 70, 4531.
 (27) Liu, Y.; Liu, M.; Guo, S.; Tu, H.; Zhou, Y.; Gao, H. Org. Lett. 2006, 8, 3445.
- (28) Zhang, J.; Schmalz, H.-G. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2006, 45, 6704.
- (29) Kirsch, S. F.; Binder, J. T.; Liebert, C.; Menz, H. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2006, 45, 5878.
- (30) Crone, B.; Kirsch, S. F. J. Org. Chem. 2007, 72, 5435.
- (31) Zhang, L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2005, 127, 16804. See also: Zhang, G.; Catalano, V. J.; Zhang, L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2007, 129, 11358.
- (32) Luo, T.; Schreiber, S. L. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2007, 46, 8250.

Coinage Metal-Assisted Synthesis of Heterocycles

- (33) Hashmi, A. S. K.; Weyrauch, J. P.; Frey, W.; Bats, J. W. Org. Lett. 2004, 6, 4391.
- (34) Ma, S.; Zhang, J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2003, 125, 12386.
- (35) Chuprakov, S.; Gevorgyan, V. Org. Lett. 2007, 9, 4463.
- (36) Peng, L.; Zhang, X.; Zhang, S.; Wang, J. J. Org. Chem. 2007, 72, 1192
- (37) Shapiro, N. D.; Toste, F. D. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2007, 129, 4160.
- (38) Gorin, D. J.; Davis, N. R.; Toste, F. D. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2005, 127, 11260.
- (39) Piera, J.; Krumlinde, P.; Strubing, D.; Backvall, J.-E. Org. Lett. 2007, 9, 2235
- (40) Kang, J-E.; Lee, E-S.; Park, S. I.; Shin, S. Tetrahedron Lett. 2005, 46, 7431.
- (41) Buzas, A.; Gagosz, F. Org. Lett. 2006, 8, 515.
- (42) Robles-Machin, R.; Adrio, J.; Carretero, J. C. J. Org. Chem. 2006, 71, 5023.
- (43) Liang, Y.; Xie, Y.-X.; Li, J.-H. Synthesis 2007, 400.
- (44) Asao, N.; Aikawa, H.; Tago, S.; Umetsu, K. Org. Lett. 2007, 9, 4299.
- (45) Hashmi, A. S. K.; Salathe, R.; Frey, W. Synlett 2007, 1763.
- (46) Kang, J.-E.; Shin, S. Synlett 2006, 717. See also: Lim, C.; Kang, J.-E.; Lee, J.-E.; Shin, S. Org. Lett. 2007, 9, 3539.
- (47) Lee, E.-S.; Yeom, H.-S.; Hwang, J.-H.; Shin, S. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2007, 3503.
- (48) Kang, J.-E.; Kim, H.-B.; Lee, J.-W.; Shin, S. Org. Lett. 2006, 8, 3537.
- (49) Hashmi, A. S. K.; Rudolph, M.; Schymura, S.; Visus, J.; Frey, W. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2006, 4905.
- (50) Minnihan, E. C.; Colletti, S. L.; Toste, F. D.; Shen, H. C. J. Org. Chem. 2007, 72, 6287.
- (51) Kato, K.; Teraguchi, R.; Kusakabe, T.; Motodate, S.; Yamamura, S.; Mochida, T.; Akita, H. *Synlett* **2007**, 63. (52) Yang, C.-G.; Reich, N. W.; Shi, Z.; He, C. *Org. Lett.* **2005**, *7*, 4553.
- (53) Yang, C.-G.; He, C. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2005, 127, 6966.
- (54) Reich, N. W.; Yang, C.-G.; Shi, Z.; He, C. Synlett 2006, 1278
- (55) Watanabe, T.; Oishi, S.; Fujii, N.; Ohno, H. Org. Lett. 2007, 9, 4821.
- (56) Zhang, J.; Yang, C.-G.; He, C. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2006, 128, 1798.
- (57) Han, X.; Widenhoefer, R. A. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2006, 45, 1747.
- (58) Liu, X.-Y.; Li, C.-H.; Che, C.-M. Org. Lett. 2006, 8, 2707.
- (59) Bender, C. F.; Widenhoefer, R. A. Org. Lett. 2007, 9, 5303.
- (60) Shi, M.; Liu, L.-P.; Tang, J. Org. Lett. 2006, 8, 4043. (61) Zhou, C.-Y.; Che, C.-M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2007, 129, 5828.
- (62) Sherman, E. S.; Chemler, S. R.; Tan, T. B.; Gerlits, O. Org. Lett. 2004, 6, 1573
- (63) Zabawa, T. P.; Kasi, D.; Chemler, S. R. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2005, 127, 11250.
- (64) Yuan, W.; Du, H.; Zhao, B.; Shi, Y. Org. Lett. 2007, 9, 2589. Also see: Zhao, B.; Yuan, W.; Du, H.; Shi, Y. Org. Lett. 2007, 9, 4943.
- (65) For a general review on the activation of allenes by metal catalysts, see: (a) Zimmer, R.; Dinesh, C.; Nandanan, E.; Khan, F. Chem. Rev. 2000, 100, 3067. (b) Ma, S. Chem. Rev. 2005, 105, 2829, and references cited therein.
- (66) Marshall, J. A.; Bartley, G. S. J. Org. Chem. 1995, 60, 5966. See also: Marshall, J. A.; Wang, X. J. J. Org. Chem. 1991, 56, 4913.
- (a) Lepage, O.; Kattnig, E.; Furstner, A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2004, (67)126, 15970. For related examples on the silver-catalyzed cyclization of allenylcarbinols, see: (b) Aurrecoechea, J. M.; Solay, M. Tetrahedron 1998, 54, 3851. (c) Marshall, J. A.; Yu, R. H.; Perkins, J. F. J. Org. Chem. 1995, 60, 5550. (d) Marshall, J. A.; Pinney, K. G. J. Org. Chem. 1993, 58, 7180.
- (68) Marshall, J. A.; Wolf, M. A.; Wallace, E. M. J. Org. Chem. 1997, 62.367.
- (69) Ma, S.; Wu, S. J. Org. Chem. 1999, 64, 9314.
- (70) Hoffman-Roder, A.; Krause, N. Org. Lett. 2001, 3, 2537. Also see: Deutsch, C.; Gockel, B.; Hoffmann-Roder, A.; Krause, N. Synlett 2007, 1790.
- (71) Hashmi, A. S. K.; Blanco, M. C.; Fischer, D.; Bats, J. W. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2006, 1387
- (72) Gockel, B.; Krause, N. Org. Lett. 2006, 8, 4485.
- (73) Volz, F.; Krause, N. Org. Biomol. Chem. 2007, 5, 1519.
- (74) Brasholz, M.; Reissig, H.-U. Synlett 2007, 1294.
- (75) Hyland, C. J. T.; Hegedus, L. S. J. Org. Chem. 2006, 71, 8658. See also: Alcaide, B.; Almendros, P.; Campo, T. M. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2007, 46, 6684.
- (76) Buzas, A.; Istrate, F.; Gagosz, F. Org. Lett. 2006, 8, 1957.
- (77) Yeom, H.-S.; Yoon, S.-J.; Shin, S. Tetrahedron. Lett. 2007, 48, 4817. (78) Kimura, M.; Fugami, K.; Tanaka, S.; Tamaru, Y. Tetrahedron Lett. **1991**, 32, 6359.
- (79) (a) Ha, J. D.; Lee, D.; Cha, J. K. J. Org. Chem. 1997, 62, 4550. (b) Ha, J. D.; Cha, J. K. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1999, 121, 10012.
- (80) (a) Morita, N.; Krause, N. Org. Lett. 2004, 6, 4121. (b) Morita, N.; Krause, N. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2006, 4634. Also see: (c) Mitasev, B.; Brummond, K. M. Synlett 2006, 3100.
- (81) Morita, N.; Krause, N. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2006, 45, 1897.

- (82) Dieter, R. K.; Chen, N.; Gore, V. K. J. Org. Chem. 2006, 71, 8755. (83) Patil, N. T.; Lutete, L. M.; Nishina, N.; Yamamoto, Y. Tetrahedron Lett. 2006, 47, 4749.
- (84) Zhang, Z.; Liu, C.; Kinder, R. E.; Han, X.; Qian, H.; Widenhoefer, R. A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2006, 128, 9066.
- (85) Zhang, Z.; Widenhoefer, R. A. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2007, 46, 283
- (86) LaLonde, R. L.; Sherry, B. D.; Kang, E. J.; Toste, F. D. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2007, 129, 2452
- (87) Zhang, Z.; Bender, C. F.; Widenhoefer, R. A. Org. Lett. 2007, 9, 2887
- (88) Hamilton, G. L.; Kang, E. J.; Mba, M.; Toste, F. D. Science 2007, 317, 496.
- (89) Nguyen, R.-V.; Yao, X.; Li, C.-J. Org. Lett. 2006, 8, 2397.
- (90) Youn, S. W.; Eom, J. I. J. Org. Chem. 2006, 71, 6705.
- (91) Gu, Y.; Shi, F.; Deng, Y. J. Org. Chem. 2004, 69, 391.
- (92) Yamada, W.; Sugawara, Y.; Cheng, H. M.; Ikeno, T.; Yamada, T. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2007, 2604.
- (93) Chaudhuri, G.; Kundu, N. G. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 2000, 1, 775.
- (94) Genin, E.; Toullec, P. Y.; Antoniotti, S.; Brancour, C.; Genet, J.-P.; Michelet, V. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2006, 128, 3112
- (95) Yang, T.; Campbell, L.; Dixon, D. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2007, 129, 12070.
- (96) (a) Nandi, B.; Kundu, N. G. Org. Lett. 2000, 2, 235. (b) Kundu, N. G.; Nandi, B. J. Org. Chem. 2001, 66, 4563. For a similar cyclization, see: (c) Kundu, N. G.; Chaudhuri, G.; Upadhyay, A. J. Örg. Chem. 2001, 66, 20.
- (97) Mukhopadhyay, R.; Kundu, N. G. Tetrahedron Lett. 2000, 41, 9927.
- (98) (a) Kundu, N. G.; Chaudhuri, G. Tetrahedron Lett. 2001, 42, 2883. (b) Kundu, N. G.; Chaudhuri, G. Tetrahedron 2001, 57, 6833.
- (99) Gabriele, B.; Salerno, G.; Fazio, A. J. Org. Chem. 2003, 68, 7853. (100) Dalla, V.; Pale, P. Tetrahedron Lett. 1994, 35, 3525. Also see:
- Arimitsu, S.; Hammond, G. B. J. Org. Chem. 2007, 72, 8559.
- (101) Xu, C.; Negishi, E.-i. Tetrahedron Lett. 1999, 40, 431.
- (102) Anastasia, L.; Xu, C.; Negishi, E.-i. Tetrahedron Lett. 2002, 43, 5673.
- (103) Rossi, R.; Bellina, F.; Mannina, L. Tetrahedron Lett. 1998, 39, 3017.
- (104) Liu, Y.; Song, F.; Guo, S. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2006, 128, 11332.
- (105) Peng, A.-Y.; Ding, Y.-X. Org. Lett. 2005, 7, 3299.
- (106) Kimura, M.; Kure, S.; Yoshida, Z.; Tanaka, S.; Fugami, K.; Tamaru, Y. Tetrahedron Lett. 1991, 31, 4887.
- (107) Ohe, K.; Ishihara, T.; Chatani, N.; Kawasaki, Y.; Murai, S. J. Org. Chem. 1991, 56, 2267.
- (108) Ritter, S.; Horino, Y.; Lex, J.; Schmalz, H.-G. Synlett 2006, 3309.
- (109) Yeom, H.-S.; Lee, E.-S.; Shin, S. Synlett 2007, 2292.
- (110) Crawley, S. L.; Funk, R. L. Org. Lett. 2006, 8, 3995.
- (111) Pale, P.; Chuche, J. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2000, 1019.
- (112) Harkat, H.; Weibel, J.-M.; Pale, P. Tetrahedron Lett. 2007, 48, 1439.
- (113) Jung, H. H.; Floreancig, P. E. J. Org. Chem. 2007, 72, 7359.
- (114) Esseveldt, B. C. J. V.; Vervoort, P. W. H.; Delft, F. L. V.; Rutjes, F. P. G. T. J. Org. Chem. 2005, 70, 1791.
- (115) (a) Robinson, R. S.; Dovey, M. C.; Gravestock, D. Tetrahedron Lett. 2004, 45, 6787. See also: (b) Robinson, R. S.; Dovey, M. C.; Gravestock, D. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2005, 505. (c) Gravestock, D.; Dovey, M. C. Synthesis 2003, 523.
- (116) Liu, Y.; Song, F.; Song, Z.; Liu, M.; Yan, B. Org. Lett. 2005, 7, 5409.
- (117) Belting, V.; Krause, N. Org. Lett. 2006, 8, 4489.
- (118) Bhuvaneswari, S.; Jeganmohan, M.; Cheng, C.-H. Chem. Eur. J. 2007, 13, 8285
- (119) Li, Y.; Zhou, F.; Forsyth, C. J. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2007, 46, 279
- (120) Antoniotti, S.; Genin, E.; Michelet, V.; Genet, J.-P. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2005, 127, 9976.
- (121) Liu, B.; Brabander, J. K. D. Org. Lett. 2006, 8, 4907.
- (122) Barluenga, J.; Dieguez, A.; Fernandez, A.; Rodriguez, F.; Fananas, F. J. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed 2006, 45, 2091.
- (123) Fukuda, Y.; Utimoto, K. Synthesis 1991, 975
- (124) Arcadi, A.; Giuseppe, S. D.; Marinelli, F.; Rossi, E. Adv. Synth. Catal. 2001, 343, 443.
- (125) (a) Wishka, D. G.; Graber, D. R.; Seest, E. P.; Dolak, L. A.; Han, F.; Watt, W.; Morris, J. J. Org. Chem. 1998, 63, 7851. (b) Wishka, D. G.; Graber, D. R.; Kopta, L. A.; Olmsted, R. A.; Friis, J. M.; Hosley, J. D.; Adams, W. J.; Seest, E. P.; Castle, T. M.; Dolak, L. A.; Keiser, B. J.; Yagi, Y.; Jeganathan, A.; Schlachter, S. T.; Murphy, M. J.; Cleek, G. J.; Nugent, R. A.; Poppe, S. M.; Swaney, S. M.; Han, F.; Watt, W.; White, W. L.; Poel, T. J.; Thomas, R. C.; Voorman, R. L.; Stefanski, K. J.; Stehle, R. G.; Tarpley, W. G.; Morris, J. J. Med. Chem. 1998, 41, 1357.
- (126) Peng, A.-Y.; Ding, Y.-X. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2003, 125, 15006.
- (127) Hashmi, A. S. K.; Schafer, S.; Wolfle, M.; Gil, C. D.; Fischer, P.; Laguna, A.; Blanco, M. C.; Gimeno, M. C. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2007, 46, 6184.

- 3440 Chemical Reviews, 2008, Vol. 108, No. 8
- (128) Wei, P.; Ding, Y.-X. Synlett 2004, 599.
- (129) Barange, D. K.; Nishad, T. C.; Swamy, N. K.; Bandameedi, V.; Kumar, D.; Sreekanth, B. R.; Vyas, K.; Pal, M. J. Org. Chem. 2007, 72, 8547.
- (130) Patil, N. T.; Yamamoto, Y. J. Org. Chem. 2004, 69, 5139.
- (131) Asao, N.; Nogami, T.; Takahashi, K.; Yamamoto, Y. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2002, 124, 764.
- (132) Dai, L.-Z.; Qi, M.-J.; Shi, Y.-L.; Liu, X.-G.; Shi, M. Org. Lett. 2007, 9, 3191.
- (133) Patil, N. T.; Pahadi, N. K.; Yamamoto, Y. J. Org. Chem. 2005, 70, 10096.
- (134) Yao, X.; Li, C.-J. Org. Lett. 2006, 8, 1953.
- (135) Zhu, J.; Germain, A. R.; Porco, J. A. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2004, 43, 1239.
- (136) Zhu, J.; Grigoriadis, N. P.; Lee, J. P.; Porco, J. A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2005, 127, 9342.
- (137) For a general review containing some examples of coinage metalcatalyzed indole synthesis, see: Gribble, G. W. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 2000, 1, 1045.
- (138) (a) Hiroya, K.; Itoh, S.; Ozawa, M.; Kanamori, Y.; Sakamoto, T. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **2002**, *43*, 1277. (b) Hiroya, K.; Itoh, S.; Sakamoto, T. J. Org. Chem. **2004**, *69*, 1126. (c) Hiroya, K.; Itoh, S.; Sakamoto, T. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **2005**, *61*, 10958.
- (139) Ezquerra, J.; Pedregal, C.; Lamas, C.; Barluenga, J.; Perez, M.; Garcia-Martin, M. A.; Gonzalez, J. M. J. Org. Chem. **1996**, 61, 5804.
- (140) (a) Adams, D. R.; Duncton, M. A. J.; Roffey, J. R. A.; Spencer, J. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 2002, 43, 7581. (b) Kumar, V.; Dority, J. A.; Bacon, E. R.; Singh, S.; Lesher, G. Y. J. Org. Chem. 1992, 57, 6995. For a similar report on the cyclization of o-alkynylanilines, see: (c) Reboredo, F. J.; Treus, M.; Estevez, J. C.; Castedo, L.; Estevez, R. J. Synlett 2003, 1603.
- (141) Xu, L.; Lewis, I. R.; Davidsen, S. K.; Summers, J. B. Tetrahedron Lett. 1998, 39, 5159.
- (142) Roesch, K. R.; Larock, R. C. J. Org. Chem. 2002, 67, 86.
- (143) (a) Zhang, H.; Larock, R. C. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 2002, 43, 1359. (b) Zhang, H.; Larock, R. C. J. Org. Chem. 2002, 67, 7048. (c) Roesch, K. R.; Larock, R. C. Org. Lett. 1999, 1, 553.
- (144) Asao, N.; Yudha, S. S.; Nogami, T.; Yamamoto, Y. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2005, 44, 5526.
- (145) Obika, S.; Kono, H.; Yasui, Y.; Yanada, R.; Takemoto, Y. J. Org. Chem. 2007, 72, 4462.
- (146) Ding, Q.; Wu, J. Org. Lett. 2007, 9, 4959.
- (147) Sun, W.; Ding, Q.; Sun, X.; Fan, R.; Wu, J. J. Comb. Chem. 2007, 9, 690.
- (148) Kamijo, S.; Yamamoto, Y. J. Org. Chem. 2003, 68, 4764.
- (149) Asao, N.; Sato, K.; Yamamoto, Y. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 2003, 44, 5675.
 (150) Alfonsi, M.; Arcadi, A.; Aschi, M.; Bianchi, G.; Marinelli, F. J. Org. *Chem.* 2005, 70, 2265.
- (151) (a) Arcadi, A.; Bianchi, G.; Chiarini, M.; Anniballe, D. G.; Marinelli, F. Synlett **2004**, 944. (b) Li, Z.; Shi, Z.; He, C. J. Organomet. Chem. **2005**, 690, 5049.
- (152) Hashmi, A. S. K.; Grundl, L. Tetrahedron 2005, 61, 6231.
- (153) Kusama, H.; Miyashita, Y.; Takaya, J.; Iwasawa, N. Org. Lett. 2006, 8, 289.
- (154) Kadzimirsz, D.; Hildebrandt, D.; Merz, K.; Dyker, G. Chem. Commun. 2006, 661.
- (155) Ding, Q.; Ye, Y.; Fan, R.; Wu, J. J. Org. Chem. 2007, 72, 5439.
- (156) Gabriele, B.; Mancuso, R.; Salerno, G.; Ruffolo, G.; Plastina, P. J. Org. Chem. 2007, 72, 6873.
- (157) Ohno, H.; Ohta, Y.; Oishi, S.; Fujii, N. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2007, 46, 2295.
- (158) Searles, S.; Li, Y.; Nassim, B.; Lopes, M.-T. R.; Tran, P. T.; Crabbe, P. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 1984, 747.
- (159) Zhang, Y.; Donahue, J. P.; Li, C. J. Org. Lett. 2007, 9, 627.
- (160) Nakamura, I.; Sato, T.; Yamamoto, Y. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2006, 45, 4473.
- (161) Nakamura, I.; Sato, T.; Terada, M.; Yamamoto, Y. Org. Lett. 2007, 9, 4081.
- (162) Nakamura, I.; Yamagishi, U.; Song, D.; Konta, S.; Yamamoto, Y. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2007, 46, 2284.
- (163) Istrate, F. M.; Gagosz, F. Org. Lett. 2007, 9, 3181.
- (164) Bates, C. G.; Saejueng, P.; Murphy, J. M.; Venkataraman, D. Org. Lett. 2002, 4, 4727.
- (165) Cacchi, S.; Fabrizi, G.; Parisi, L. M. Org. Lett. 2003, 5, 3843.
- (166) Cacchi, S.; Fabrizi, G.; Parisi, L. M.; Bernini, R. Synlett 2004, 287.
- (167) Liu, F.; Ma, D. J. Org. Chem. 2007, 72, 4844.
- (168) For transition metal-catalyzed cycloaddition reactions, see: (a) Lautens, M.; Klute, W.; Tam, W. Chem. Rev. 1996, 96, 49. (b) Fruhauf, H. W. Chem. Rev. 1997, 97, 523. (c) Winkler, J. D. Chem. Rev. 1996, 96, 167. (d) Denmark, S. E.; Thorarensen, A. Chem. Rev. 1996, 96, 137. (e) Kagan, H. B.; Riant, O. Chem. Rev. 1992, 92, 1007.

- (169) For a general review on 1,3-dipolar cycloaddition reactions, see: (a) Synthetic Applications of 1,3-Dipolar Cycloaddition Chemistry Toward Heterocycles and Natural Products; Padwa, A., Pearson, W. H., Eds.; Wiley: New York, 2003; Vol. 59. (b) Karlsson, S.; Hogberg, H.-E. Org. Prep. Proced. Int. 2001, 33, 103. (c) Gothelf, K. V.; Jorgensen, K. A. Chem. Rev. 1998, 98, 863. (d) Herr, R. J. Bioorg. Med. Chem. 2002, 10, 3379. (e) Butler, R. N. In Comprehensive Heterocyclic Chemistry; Katritzky, A. R., Rees, C. W., Scriven, E. F. V., Eds.; Pergamon, Oxford, 1996; Vol. 4, p 621. (f) Huisgen, R. In 1,3-Dipolar Cycloaddition Chemistry; Padwa, A., Ed.; Wiley: New York, 1984. (g) Maarseveen, J. H.; Hiemstra, H.; Bock, V. D. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2006, 51. (h) Victoria, G. M.; Jose, A. M.; Oscar, L. Synthesis 2007, 1589.
- (170) Jin, T.; Kamijo, S.; Yamamoto, Y. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2004, 3789.
- (171) Rostovtsev, V. V.; Green, L. G.; Fokin, V. V.; Sharpless, K. B. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2002, 41, 2596.
- (172) Appukkuttan, P.; Dehaen, W.; Fokin, V. V.; Eycken, E. V. Org. Lett. 2004, 6, 4223.
- (173) Yan, Z.-Y.; Zhao, Y. B.; Fan, M. J.; Liu, W. M.; Liang, Y. M. *Tetrahedron* **2005**, *61*, 9331.
- (174) Hansen, T. V.; Wu, P.; Fokin, V. V. J. Org. Chem. 2005, 70, 7761.
- (175) For reviews, see: (a) Najera, C.; Sansano, J. M. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2005, 44, 6272. (b) Coldham, I.; Hufton, R. Chem. Rev. 2005, 105, 2765. (c) Pellissier, H. Tetrahedron 2007, 63, 3235. (d) Pandey, G.; Banerjee, P.; Gadre, S. R. Chem. Rev 2006, 106, 4484.
- (176) Dondas, H. A.; Duraisingham, J.; Grigg, R.; MacLachlan, W. S.; MacPherson, D. T.; Thornton-Pett, M.; Sridharan, V.; Suganthan, S. *Tetrahedron* **2000**, *56*, 4063.
- (177) Grigg, R.; Millington, E. L.; Thornton-Pett, M. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **2002**, *43*, 2605.
- (178) Grigg, R.; Sridharan, V.; Wang, J.; Xu, J. Tetrahedron 2000, 56, 8967.
- (179) Nyerges, M.; Rudas, M.; Toth, G.; Herenyi, B.; Kadas, I.; Bitter, I.; Toke, L. *Tetrahedron* **1995**, *51*, 13321.
- (180) Gao, W.; Zhang, X.; Raghunath, M. Org. Lett. 2005, 7, 4241.
- (181) Cabrera, S.; Arrayas, R. G.; Carretero, J. C. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2005, 127, 16394.
- (182) Oderaotoshi, Y.; Cheng, W.; Fujitomi, S.; Kasano, Y.; Minakata, S.; Komatsu, M. Org. Lett. 2003, 5, 5043.
- (183) Llamas, T.; Arrayas, R. G.; Carretero, J. C. Synthesis 2007, 950.
- (184) Longmire, J. M.; Wang, B.; Zhang, X. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2002, 124, 13400.
- (185) Knopfel, T. F.; Aschwanden, P.; Ichikawa, T.; Watanabe, T.; Carreira, E. M. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2004, 43, 5971.
- (186) Yan, X.-X.; Peng, Q.; Zhang, Y.; Zhang, K.; Hong, W.; Hou, X.-L.; Wu, Y. D. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2006, 45, 1979.
- (187) Chen, C.; Li, X.; Schreiber, S. L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2003, 125, 10174.
- (188) Zeng, W.; Chen, G.-Y.; Zhou, Y.-G.; Li, Y.-X. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2007, 129, 750.
- (189) Najera, C.; Retamosa, M. G.; Sansano, J. M. Org. Lett. 2007, 9, 4025.
- (190) Alemparte, C.; Blay, G.; Jorgensen, K. A. Org. Lett. 2005, 7, 4569.
- (191) Pandey, G.; Lakshmaiah, G. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1993**, *34*, 4861.
- (192) Pandey, G.; Laha, J. K.; Mohanakrishnan, A. K. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 1999, 40, 6065.
- (193) Pandey, G.; Sahoo, A. K.; Bagul, T. D. Org. Lett. 2000, 2, 2299.
- (194) Pandey, G.; Banerjee, P.; Kumar, R.; Puranik, V. G. Org. Lett. 2005,
- 7, 3713. (195) Pandey, G.; Sahoo, A. K.; Gadre, S. R.; Bagul, T. D.; Phalgune,
- U. D. J. Org. Chem. **1999**, 64, 4990. (196) Pandey, G.; Bagul, T. D.; Sahoo, A. K. J. Org. Chem. **1998**, 63,
- 760.
- (197) Peddibhotla, S.; Tepe, J. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2004, 126, 12776.
- (198) Melhado, A. D.; Luparia, M.; Toste, F. D. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2007, 129, 12638.
- (199) Grigg, R.; Lansdell, M. I.; Thornton-Pet, M. Tetrahedron 1999, 55, 2025.
- (200) Shintani, R.; Fu, G. C. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2003, 125, 10778.
- (201) Kamijo, S.; Kanazawa, C.; Yamamoto, Y. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2005, 127, 9260.
- (202) Hayashi, T.; Uozumi, Y.; Yamazaki, A.; Sawamura, M.; Hamashima, H.; Ito, Y. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1991**, *32*, 2799.
- (203) Soloshonok, V. A.; Hayashi, T.; Ishikawa, K.; Nagashima, N. Tetrahedron Lett. 1994, 35, 1055.
- (204) Sawamura, M.; Ito, Y.; Hayashi, T. Tetrahedron Lett. 1990, 31, 2723.
- (205) Su, S.; Porco, J. A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2007, 129, 7744.
- (206) Galliford, C. V.; Martenson, J. S.; Stern, C.; Scheidt, K. A. Chem. Commun. 2007, 631.
- (207) Jensen, K. B.; Hazell, R. G.; Jorgensen, K. A. J. Org. Chem. 1999, 64, 2353.
- (208) (a) Kinugasa, M.; Hashimoto, S. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1972, 466. For Review, see: (b) Pal, R.; Ghosh, S. C.; Chandra, K.; Basak, A. Synlett 2007, 2321.
- (209) Lo, M. M.-C.; Fu, G. C. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2002, 124, 4572.

Coinage Metal-Assisted Synthesis of Heterocycles

- (210) Miura, M.; Enna, M.; Okuro, K.; Nomura, M. J. Org. Chem. 1995, 60, 4999.
- (211) Zhao, L.; Li, C.-J. Chem. Asian J. 2006, 1-2, 203-209.
- (212) Daidouji, K.; Fuchibe, K.; Akiyama, T. Org. Lett. 2005, 7, 1051.
- (213) Kende, A. S.; Journet, M. Tetrahedron Lett. 1995, 36, 3087.
- (214) Broggini, G.; Casalone, G.; Garanti, L.; Molteni, G.; Pilati, T.; Zecchi, G. *Tetrahedron Asymm.* **1999**, *10*, 4447.
- (215) For reviews, see: (a) Jorgensen, K. A. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2000, 39, 3558. (b) Jorgensen, K. A.; Johannsen, M.; Yao, S.; Audrain, H.; Thorhauge, J. Acc. Chem. Res. 1999, 32, 605. (c) Tietze, L. F.; Kettschau, G.; Gewart, J. A.; Schuffenhauer, A. Top. Curr. Chem. 1998, 2, 19. (d) Tietze, L. F.; Kettschau, G. Top. Curr. Chem. 1997, 189, 1. (e) Yamamoto, Y.; Yamamoto, H. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2006, 2031.
- (216) (a) Bolm, C.; Simic, O. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2001, 123, 3830. (b) Johannsen, M.; Jorgensen, K. A. J. Org. Chem. 1995, 60, 5757.
- (217) (a) Evans, D. A.; Johnson, J. S.; Olhava, E. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc.
 2000, 122, 1635. (b) Evans, D. A.; Johnson, J. S.; Burgey, C. S.; Campos, K. R. Tetrahedron Lett. 1999, 40, 2879.
- (218) Jnoff, E.; Ghosez, L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1999, 121, 2617.
- (219) Motorina, I. A.; Grierson, D. S. Tetrahedron Lett. 1999, 40, 7215.
- (220) Saito, T.; Takekawa, K.; Nishimura, J.-i.; Kawamura, M. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 1997, 2957.
- (221) Loncaric, C.; Manabe, K.; Kobayashi, S. Adv. Synth. Catal. 2003, 345, 475.
- (222) Mancheno, O. G.; Arrayas, R. G.; Carretero, J. C. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2004, 126, 456.
- (223) Josephsohn, N. S.; Snapper, M. L.; Hoveyda, A. H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2004, 125, 4018.
- (224) Yao, S.; Johannsen, M.; Hazell, R. G.; Jorgensen, K. A. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 1998, 37, 3121.
- (225) Patmore, N. J.; Hague, C.; Cotgreave, J. H.; Mahon, M. F.; Frost, C. G.; Weller, A. S. *Chem. Eur. J.* **2002**, *8*, 2088.
- (226) Kawasaki, M.; Yamamoto, H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2006, 128, 16482.
- (227) Akiyama, T.; Daidouji, K.; Fuchibe, K. Org. Lett. 2003, 5, 3691.
- (228) Rhee, J. U.; Krische, M. J. Org. Lett. 2005, 7, 2493.
- (229) Nakamura, I.; Nemoto, T.; Yamamoto, Y.; Meijere, A.-de. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed 2006, 45, 5176.
- (230) Malik, C. K.; Vaultier, M.; Ghosh, S. Synthesis 2007, 1247.
- (231) Luzung, M. R.; Mauleon, P.; Toste, F. D. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2007, 129, 12402.
- (232) For transition metal-catalyzed carbocyclization, see: Ojima, I.; Tzamarioudaki, M.; Li, Z.; Donovan, R. J. Chem. Rev. 1996, 96, 635.
- (233) For reviews of transition metal-catalyzed reaction of enynes, see:
 (a) Aubert, C.; Buisine, O.; Malacria, M. Chem. Rev. 2002, 102, 813. (b) Lloyd-Jones, G. C. Org. Biomol. Chem. 2003, 1, 215. (c) Diver, S. T.; Giessert, A. Chem. Rev. 2004, 104, 1317. (d) Echavarren, A. M.; Nevado, C. Chem. Soc. Rev. 2004, 33, 431. (e) Ma, S.; Yu, S.; Gu, Z. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2006, 45, 200.
- (234) (a) Nieto-Oberhuber, C.; Munoz, M. P.; Bunuel, E.; Nevado, C.; Cardenas, D. J.; Echavarren, A. M. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2004, 43, 2402. (b) Nieto-Oberhuber, C.; Lopez, S.; Munoz, M. P.; Jimenez-Nunez, E.; Bunuel, E.; Cardenas, D. J.; Echavarren, A. M. Chem. Eur. J. 2006, 12, 1694. (c) Nieto-Oberhuber, C.; Lopez, S.; Munoz, M. P.; Cardenas, D. J.; Bunuel, E.; Nevado, C.; Echavarren, A. M. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2005, 44, 6146.
- (235) Zhang, L.; Kozmin, S. A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2005, 127, 6962.
- (236) Sherry, B. D.; Maus, L.; Laforteza, B. N.; Toste, F. D. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2006, 128, 8132.
- (237) Menz, H.; Kirsch, S. F. Org. Lett. 2006, 8, 4795.
- (238) Horino, Y.; Luzung, M. R.; Toste, F. D. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2006, 128, 11364.
- (239) Lian, J.-J.; Chen, P.-C.; Lin, Y.-P.; Ting, H.-C.; Liu, R.-S. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2006, 128, 11372.
- (240) Couty, S.; Meyer, C.; Cossy, J. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2006, 45, 6726.
- (241) Toullec, P. Y.; Genin, E.; Leseurre, L.; Genet, J. P.; Michelet, V. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2006, 45, 7427.
- (242) Genin, E.; Leseurre, L.; Toullec, P. Y.; Genet, J.-P.; Michelet, V. Synlett 2007, 1780.
- (243) Amijs, C. H. M.; Ferrer, C.; Echavarren, A. M. Chem. Commun. 2007, 698.
- (244) Jimenez-Nunez, E.; Claverie, C. K.; Nieto-Oberhuber, C. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2006, 45, 5452.
- (245) Lopez, S.; Herrero-Gomez, E.; Perez-Galan, P.; Nieto-Oberhuber, C.; Echavarren, A. M. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2006, 45, 6029.
- (246) Cabello, N.; Rodriguez, C.; Echavarren, A. M. Synlett 2007, 1753.
- (247) Schelwies, M.; Dempwolff, A. L.; Rominger, F.; Helmchen, G. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **2007**, *46*, 5598.
- (248) Lee, S. I.; Kim, S. M.; Choi, M. R.; Kim, Y. S.; Chung, Y. K. J. Org. Chem. 2006, 71, 9366. Also see: Kim, S. M.; Park, J. H.; Choi, S. Y.; Chung, Y. K. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2007, 46, 6172.

- (249) Witham, C. A.; Mauleon, P.; Shapiro, N. D.; Sherry, B. D.; Toste, F. D. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2007, 129, 5838.
- (250) Abbiati, G.; Arcadi, A.; Bianchi, G.; Giuseppe, S. D.; Marinelli, F.; Rossi, E. J. Org. Chem. 2003, 68, 6959.
- (251) Shi, Z.; He, C. J. Org. Chem. 2004, 69, 3669.
- (252) Nevado, C.; Echavarren, A. M. Chem. Eur. J. 2005, 11, 3155.
- (253) (a) Ferrer, C.; Echavarren, A. M. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2006, 45, 1105. (b) Ferrer, C.; Amijs, C. H. M.; Echavarren, A. M. Chem. Eur. J. 2007, 13, 1358.
- (254) Youn, S. W. J. Org. Chem. 2006, 71, 2521.
- (255) Burtoloso, A. C. B.; Correia, C. R. D. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **2004**, *45*, 3355.
- (256) (a) Lee, S.; Lim, H.-J.; Cha, K. L.; Sulikowski, G. A. *Tetrahedron* 1997, 53, 16521. (b) Lim, H.-J.; Sulikowski, G. A. J. Org. Chem. 1995, 60, 2326.
- (257) West, F. G.; Naidu, B. N.; Tester, R. W. J. Org. Chem. 1994, 59, 6892. For a similar report, see: West, F. G.; Naidu, B. N. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1994, 116, 8420.
- (258) Glaeske, K. W.; Naidu, B. N.; West, F. G. Tetrahedron Asymm. 2003, 14, 917.
- (259) Marmsater, F. P.; West, F. G. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2001, 123, 5144.
 For a selectivity study in oxonium ylides, see: (b) Brogan, J. B.; Bauer, C. B.; Rogers, R. D.; Zercher, C. K. Tetrahedron Lett. 1996, 37, 5053.
- (260) Clark, J. S.; Hodgson, P. B. Tetrahedron Lett. 1995, 36, 2519.
- (261) Wright, D. L.; Weekly, R. M.; Groff, R.; McMills, M. C. Tetrahedron Lett. 1996, 37, 2165.
- (262) Clark, J. S.; Fretwell, M.; Whitlock, G. A.; Burns, C. J.; Fox, D. N. A. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1998**, *39*, 97.
- (263) Gettwert, V.; Krebs, F.; Mass, G. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 1999, 1213.
- (264) Roberts, E.; Sancon, J. P.; Sweeney, J. B.; Workman, J. A. Org. Lett. 2003, 5, 4775. For a similar report by the same research group, see: Heath, P.; Roberts, E.; Sweeney, J. B.; Wessel, H. P.; Workman, J. A. J. Org. Chem. 2003, 68, 4083.
- (265) For leading references, see: (a) Kim, D. Y.; Rhie, D. Y. Tetrahedron 1997, 53, 13603. (b) Hafen, J. A.; Hallman, J. K.; Schultz, J. A.; Emerson, J. P. Organometallics 1999, 18, 5435. (c) Sodergren, M. J.; Alonso, D. A.; Bedekar, A. V.; Andersson, P. G. Tetrahedron Lett. 1997, 38, 6897. (d) Evans, D. A.; Faul, M. M.; Bilodeau, M. T. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1994, 116, 2742. (e) Evans, D. A.; Faul, M. M.; Bilodeau, M. T. J. Org. Chem. 1991, 56, 6744. (f) Chenna, P. H. D.; Dauban, P.; Ghini, A.; Burton, G.; Dodd, R. H. Tetrahedron Lett. 2000, 41, 7041. (g) Mairena, M. A.; Diaz-Requejo, M. M.; Belderrain, T. R.; Nicasio, M. C.; Trofimenko, S.; Perez, P. J. Organometallics **2004**, 23, 253. (h) Dauban, P.; Dodd, R. H. J. Org. Chem. **1999**, 64, 5304. (i) Cho, D.-J.; Jeon, S.-J.; Kim, H.-S.; Kim, T. J. Synlett 1998, 617. (j) Brookhart, M.; DiazRequejo, M. M.; Perez, P. J.; Templeton, J. L. Organometallics 1997, 16, 4399. (k) Sanders, C. J.; Gillespie, K. M.; Bell, D.; Scott, P. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2000, 122, 7132. (1) Vedernikov, A. N.; Caulton, K. G. Org. Lett. 2003, 5, 2591. (m) Di Chenna, P. H.; Robert-Peillard, F.; Dauban, P.; Dodd, R. H. Org. Lett. 2004, 6, 4503. (n) Leca, D.; Toussaint, A.; Mareau, C.; Fensterbank, L.; Lacote, E.; Malacria, M. Org. Lett. 2004, 6, 3573. (o) Mohr, F.; Binfield, S. A.; Fettinger, J. C.; Vedernikov, A. N. J. Org. Chem. 2005, 70, 4833. (p) Sun, W.; Herdtweck, E.; Kuhn, F. E. New J. Chem. 2005, 29, 1577
- (266) For leading references, see: (a) Cho, D.-J.; Jeon, S.-J.; Kim, H.-S.; Cho, C.-S.; Shim, S.-C.; Kim, T.-J. *Tetrahedron: Asymmetry* **1999**, *10*, 3833. (b) Brandt, P.; Sodergren, M. J.; Andersson, P. G.; Norrby, P.-O. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2000**, *122*, 8013. (c) Kwong, H.-L.; Liu, D.; Chan, K.-Y.; Lee, C.-S.; Huang, K.-H.; Che, C.-M. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **2004**, *45*, 3965. (d) Evans, D. A.; Faul, M. M.; Bilodeau, M. T.; Anderson, B. A.; Barnes, D. M. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **1993**, *115*, 5328. (e) Li, Z.; Conser, K. R.; Jacobsen, E. N. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **1993**, *115*, 5326. (f) Kawabata, H.; Omura, K.; Katsuki, T. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **2006**, *47*, 1571. For general reviews, see: (g) Jacobsen, E. N. In *Comprehensive Asymmetric Catalysis*; Jacobsen, E. N., Pfaltz, A., Yamamoto, H., Eds.; Springer-Verlag: Berlin, 1999; Vol. 2, p 607. (h) Muller, P.; Fruit, C. *Chem. Rev.* **2003**, *103*, 2905.
- (267) Cui, Y.; He, C. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2003, 125, 16202.
- (268) (a) Rousselet, G.; Chassagnard, C.; Capdevielle, P.; Maumy, M. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1996**, *37*, 8497. (b) Andrus, M. B.; Poehlein, B. W. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **2000**, *41*, 1013.
- (269) Dauban, P.; Dodd, R. H. Org. Lett. 2000, 2, 2327. For a similar report, see: Daran, F.; Leman, L.; Ghini, A.; Burton, G.; Dauban, P.; Dodd, R. H. Org. Lett. 2002, 4, 2481.
- (270) Liu, R.; Herron, S. R.; Fleming, S. A. J. Org. Chem. 2007, 72, 5587.
- (271) Lebel, H.; Lectard, S.; Parmentier, M. Org. Lett. 2007, 9, 4797.
- (272) Esteoule, A.; Duran, F.; Retailleau, P.; Dodd, R. H.; Dauban, P.
- Synthesis 2007, 1251.
- (273) Li, Z.; Ding, X.; He, C. J. Org. Chem. 2006, 71, 5876.
- (274) For examples which are not described in the text, see: (a) Zhu, J.; Price, B. A.; Zhao, S. X.; Skonezny, P. M. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 2000,

41, 4011. (b) Barberis, C.; Gordon, T. D.; Thomos, C.; Zhang, X.; Cusack, K. P. Tetrahedron Lett. 2005, 46, 8877. For a general review on the copper-catalyzed C-X bond formation, in which some examples of intramolecular reaction leading to heteterocycles are mentioned, see: (c) Ley, S. V.; Thomas, A. W. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2003, 42, 5400.

- (275) Yuen, J.; Fang, Y.-Q.; Lautens, M. Org. Lett. 2006, 8, 653.
- (276) Yang, T.; Lin, C.; Fu, H.; Jiang, Y.; Zhao, Y. Org. Lett. 2005, 7, 4781.
- (277) Cuny, G.; Bois-Choussy, M.; Zhu, J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2004, 126, 14475.
- (278) Hu, T.; Li, C. Org. Lett. 2005, 7, 2075.
- (279) Klapars, A.; Parris, S.; Anderson, K. W.; Buchwald, S. L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2004, 126, 3529.
- (280) Lavecchia, G.; Berteina-Raboin, S.; Guillaumet, G. Tetrahedron Lett. 2004. 45. 2389.
- (281) Minami, T.; Isonaka, T.; Okada, Y.; Ichikawa, J. J. Org. Chem. 1993, 58, 7009.
- (282) (a) Joyce, L. L.; Evindar, G.; Batey, R. A. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 2004, 446. (b) Evindar, G.; Batey, R. A. J. Org. Chem. 2006, 71, 1802. See also: (c) Evindar, G.; Batey, R. A. Org. Lett. 2003. 5. 133.
- (283) Schuh, K.; Glorius, F. Synthesis 2007, 2297.
- (284) Thasana, N.; Worayuthakarn, R.; Kradanrat, P.; Hohn, E.; Young, L.; Ruchirawat, S. J. Org. Chem. 2007, 72, 9379.
- (285) Lu, B.; Ma, D. Org. Lett. 2006, 8, 6115. Also see: Chen, Y.; Xie, X.; Ma, D. J. Org. Chem. **2007**, 72, 9329. (286) Zou, B.; Yuan, Q.; Ma, D. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed **2007**, 46, 2598.
- Also see: (b) Zou, B.; Yuan, Q.; Ma, D. Org. Lett. 2007, 9, 4291.
- (287) Zheng, N.; Buchwald, S. L. Org. Lett. 2007, 9, 4749.
- (288) Lu, B.; Wang, B.; Zhang, Y.; Ma, D. J. Org. Chem. 2007, 72, 5337.
- (289) Carril, M.; SanMartin, R.; Tellitu, I.; Dominguez, E. Org. Lett. 2006, 8. 1467.
- (290) Tanimori, S.; Ura, H.; Kirihata, M. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2007, 3977. (291) Fujiwara, S.-i.; Asanuma, Y.; Shin-ike, T.; Kambe, N. J. Org. Chem.
- **2007**, 72, 8087. (292) Martin, R.; Rivero, M. R.; Buchwald, S. L. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2006, 45, 7079.
- (293) Pan, Y.; Lu, H.; Fang, Y.; Fang, X.; Chen, L.; Qian, J.; Wang, J. Synthesis 2007, 1242.
- (294) Fang, Y.; Li, C. J. Org. Chem. 2006, 71, 6427.
- (295) Lu, H.; Li, C. Org. Lett. 2006, 8, 5365.
- (296) Fang, Y.; Li, C. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2007, 129, 8092.
- (297) For general reviews, see: (a) Iqbal, J.; Bhatia, B.; Nayyar, N. K. Chem. Rev. 1994, 94, 519. (b) Bowman, W. R.; Bridge, C. F.; Brookes, P. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 2000, 1. (c) Giese, B.; Kopping, B.; Gobel, T.; Dickhaut, J.; Thoma, G.; Kulicke, K. J.; Trach, F. Org. React. 1996, 48, 301. (d) Curran, D. P., Porter, N. A., Giese, B. Stereochemistry of Radical Reaction; VCH: Weinheim, 1996; 23. (e) Curran, D. P. In Comprehensive Organic Synthesis; Trost, B. M., Fleming, I., Eds.; Pergamon: Oxford, 1991; Vol. 4, p 715. For a review on ATRC reaction mediated by copper, see: (f) Clark, A. J. Chem. Soc. Rev. 2002, 31, 1.
- (298) For lactam synthesis using ARTC reaction, see: (a) Baldovini, N.; Bertrand, M. P.; Carriere, A.; Nouguier, R.; Plancher, J. M. J. Org. Chem. 2006, 61, 3205. (b) Davies, D. T.; Kapur, N.; Parsons, A. F. Tetrahedron 2000, 56, 3941. (c) Clark, A. J.; Battle, G. M.; Bridge, A. Tetrahedron Lett. 2001, 42, 4409. (d) Ghelfi, F.; Parsons, A. F. J. Org. Chem. 2000, 65, 6249. (e) Davies, D. T.; Kapur, N.; Parsons, A. F. Tetrahedron Lett. 1999, 40, 8615. (f) Clark, A. J.; Dell, C. P.; Ellard, J. M.; Hunt, N. A.; McDonagh, J. P. Tetrahedron Lett. 1999, 40, 8619. (g) Ghelfi, F.; Bellesia, F.; Forti, L.; Ghirardini, G.; Grandi, R.; Libertini, E.; Montemaggi, M. C.; Pagnoni, U. M.; Pinetti, A.; De Buyck, L.; Parsons, A. F. Tetrahedron 1999, 55, 5839. (h) Clark, A. J.; Filik, R. P.; Thomos, G. H. Tetrahedron Lett. 1999, 40, 4885. (i) Benedetti, M.; Forti, L.; Ghelfi, F.; Pagnoni, U. M.; Ronzoni, R. Tetrahedron 1997, 53, 14031. (j) Baldovini, N.; Bertrand, M. P.; Carriere, A.; Nougier, R.; Plancher, J. M. J. Org. Chem. 1996, 61, 3205. (k) Clark, A. J.; De Campo, F.; Deeth, R. J.; Filik, R. P.; Gatard, S.; Hunt, N. A.; Lastecoueres, D.; Thomos, G. H.; Verlhac, J. B.; Wong-tap, H. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 2000, 671.
- (299) Nagashima, H.; Isono, Y.; Iwamatsu, S.-I. J. Org. Chem. 2001, 66, 315.
- (300) For copper-catalyzed ARTC reaction of trihaloacetamides tethered with alkenes leading the formation of lactams, see (a) Iwamatsu, S.-

Patil and Yamamoto

- 1687. (b) Bryans, J. S.; Chessum, N. E. A.; Huther, N.; Parsons, A. F.; Ghelfi, F. Tetrahedron 2003, 59, 6221. (c) Edlin, C. D.; Faulkner, J.; Helliwell, M.; Knight, C. K.; Parker, J.; Quayle, P.; Raftery, J. Tetrahedron 2006, 62, 3004. (d) Clark, A. J.; Duncalf, D. J.; Filik, R. P.; Haddleton, D. M.; Thomos, G. H.; Wongtap, H. Tetrahedron Lett. 1999, 40, 3807. (e) Clark, A. J.; Filik, R. P.; Haddleton, D. M.; Radique, A.; Sanders, C. J.; Thomos, G. H.; Smith, M. E. J. Org. Chem. 1999, 64, 8954.
- (301) Iwamatsu, S.-I.; Matsubara, K.; Nagashima, H. J. Org. Chem. 1999, 64, 9625.
- (302) (a) Campo, F. D.; Lastecoueres, D.; Verlhac, J.-B. Chem. Commun. 1998, 2117. (b) Campo, F. D.; Lastecoueres, D.; Vincet, J.-M.; Verlhac, J.-B. J. Org. Chem. 1999, 64, 4969.
- (303) Clark, A. J.; Battle, G. M.; Bridge, A. Tetrahedron Lett. 2001, 42, 1999. For other reports on ATRC reaction of alkynes, see: Udding, J. H.; Tuijp, K. C. J. M.; Zanden, M. N. A.; Hiemstra, H.; Speckamp, W. N. J. Org. Chem. 1994, 59, 1993.
- (304) Lam, H. W.; Joensuu, P. M. Org. Lett. 2005, 7, 4225.
- (305) Ciesielski, M.; Pufky, D.; Doring, M. Tetrahedron 2005, 61, 5942. (306) Arcadi, A.; Attanasi, O. A.; Crescentini, L. D.; Rossi, E. Tetrahedron
- Lett. 1997, 38, 2329. (307) Wang, X.-j.; Zhang, L.; Xu, Y.; Krishnamurthy, D.; Senanayake, C
- H. Tetrahedron Lett. 2004, 45, 7167. (308) Wang, X.-j.; Zhang, L.; Xu, Y.; Krishnamurthy, D.; Varsolona, R.;
- Nummy, L.; Shen, S.; Frutos, R. P.; Byrne, D.; Chung, J. C.; Farina, V.; Senanayake, C. H. Tetrahedron Lett. 2005, 46, 273.
- (309) Terada, M.; Ikehara, T.; Ube, H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2007, 129, 14112.
- (310) Lee, S.-H.; Yang, J.; Han, T.-D. Tetrahedron Lett. 2001, 42, 3487.
- (311) Erdelmeier, I.; Tailhan-Lomont, C.; Yadan, J.-C. J. Org. Chem. 2000, 65, 8152.
- (312) Luo, Y.; Li, Z.; Li, C.-J. Org. Lett. 2005, 7, 2675.
- (313) Liu, X.-Y.; Ding, P.; Huang, J.-S.; Che, C.-M. Org. Lett. 2007, 9, 2645
- (314) (a) Clark, T. B.; Woerpel, K. A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2004, 126, 9522. (b) Clark, T. B.; Woerpel, K. A. Organometallics 2005, 24, 6212. (c) Driver, T. G.; Woerpel, K. A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2004, 126, 9993.
- (315) Nevarez, Z.; Woerpel, K. A. Org. Lett. 2007, 9, 3773.
- (316) Paulvannan, K.; Chen, T.; Hale, R. Tetrahedron 2000, 56, 8071.
- (317) Craig, D.; Pennington, M. W.; Warner, P. Tetrahedron Lett. 1993, 34. 8539.
- (318) Nakata, T.; Nomura, S.; Matsukura, H. Tetrahedron Lett. 1996, 37, 213.
- (319) Mena, M.; Bonjoch, J.; Pardo, D. G.; Cossy, J. J. Org. Chem. 2006, 71, 5930.
- (320) Kimpe, N. D.; Tehrani, K. A.; Fonck, G. J. Org. Chem. 1996, 61, 6500
- (321) Campomanes, P.; Menendez, M. I.; Sordo, T. L. J. Org. Chem. 2003, 68, 6685.
- (322) (a) Bobeck, D. R.; Warner, D. L.; Vedejs, E. J. Org. Chem. 2007, 72, 8506. (b) Warner, D. L.; Hibberd, A. M.; Kalman, M.; Klapars, A.; Vedejs, E. J. Org. Chem. 2007, 72, 8519. (c) Li, X.; Li, J.; Mootoo, D. R. Org. Lett. 2007, 9, 4303.
- (323) Cui, Y.; He, C. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2004, 43, 4210.
- (324) Arcadi, A.; Chiarini, M.; Giuseppe, S. D.; Marinelli, F. Synlett 2003, 203.
- (325) (a) Arcadi, A.; Giuseppe, S. D.; Marinelli, F.; Rossi, E. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry 2001, 12, 2715. (b) Arcadi, A.; Giuseppe, S. D.; Marinelli, F.; Rossi, E. Adv. Synth. Catal. 2001, 343, 443.
- (326) Paraskar, A. S.; Dewkar, G. K.; Sudalai, A. Tetrahedron Lett. 2003, 44, 3305.
- (327) Cui, S.-L.; Lin, X.-F.; Wang, Y. G. Org. Lett. 2006, 8, 4517. Also see: (b) Cui, S. L.; Wang, J.; Wang, Y. G. Tetrahedron 2008, 64, 487.
- (328) Cui, S.-L.; Wang, J.; Wang, Y.-G. Org. Lett. 2007, 9, 5023.
- (329) Jin, Y.; Fu, H.; Yin, Y.; Jiang, Y.; Zhao, Y. Synlett 2007, 901.
- (330) Xu, X.; Cheng, D.; Li, J.; Guo, H.; Yan, J. Org. Lett. 2007, 9, 1585.
- (331) Lin, C.-C.; Teng, T.-M.; Odedra, A.; Liu, R.-S. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2007, 129, 3798.
- (332) Skouta, R.; Li, C.-J. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2007, 46, 1117.
- (333) Skouta, R.; Li, C. J. Synlett 2007, 1759.

CR050041J